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SOUT
? RENTALS

Z N oofa A E

We are a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong with the capability of providing a wide range of

construction, E&M engineering and event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions and
value-added services to our customers. We serve a diverse range of customers including leading construction and E&M
engineering companies and large scale event and entertainment companies. Our rental equipment principally covers
power and energy equipment, high-reach equipment, material handling equipment and other equipment (include
lifting, earth moving, foundation, road and transportation, tunneling, demolition and small equipment).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of AP Rentals Holdings
Limited ("AP Rentals” or the "Company”), | hereby present the audited
consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year” or
“FY2021").

For FY2021, the Group had a total revenue of approximately HK$148.5
million, representing an increase of approximately 1.8% as compared to
that of approximately HK$145.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2020
("FY2020"). The Group’s loss for the Year decreased from approximately
HK$19.7 million in FY2020 to loss for the Year of approximately HK$5.7
million in FY2021. Please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” (‘MD&A") for details of the Group’s business
performance for FY2021. The Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, which summarizes our effort and performance in promoting and
strengthening corporate social responsibility among the Group during the
Year, will be published separately within three months after the publication
of the annual report of the Company.

It has been another challenging year for the Group as market sentiments
were still poor due to the outbreak of COVID-19. In FY2021, the overall
market sentiment of the construction industry in Hong Kong was still poor
and price competition was keen for the construction and its related
businesses. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the operating days of the
work sites of the customers in Singapore and Hong Kong were decreased.
For the trading business and disposal of leasing machines, the Group still
maintained the revenues by selling and disposing more of its machines in
Hong Kong than overseas due to the global lockdowns, especially in Asia
region. However, the Group is ready to increase its sales and disposals of its
machines overseas once the lockdowns are uplifted.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

Even in such a challenging year, the Group still recorded an increase in
revenue of approximately HK$2.7 million or 1.8% as compared to that of
approximately HK$145.8 million for FY2020.

However, the Group still made investment in advanced and specific
machines in FY2021, including the generators for our newly introduced
Automatic Power System (“APS”) in the Smart System in Mobile Electricity
("SSME"), in FY2021 (approximately HK$24.8 million). The Group expected
to continue its invest in SSME and global positioning system (the “GPS”)
equipment monitoring system in the year ending 31 March 2022
("FY2022") s0 as to avoid intensive price competition, which will further
jeopardize our gross profit. For details, please refer to the MD&A section. In
FY2021, the Group is still focusing on the key projects in Hong Kong,
namely the third runway and the improvement works of the Hong Kong
International Airport (the “Third Runway & Improvements”), the Kai Tak
Sports Park (the “KTS Park”) and the Central Kowloon Route (a highway
project under constructing that runs through the Kowloon Peninsula,
which is largely underground) (the “Central Kowloon Route”).

For the Group businesses in PRC, the construction industry is still affected by
acute shortage of labour and disruption of upstream material supplier as a
result of the outbreak of the COVID-19. The demands on leasing machines
declined and the Group is facing keen price competition. However, the
Group is expected to improve its performance in FY2022 as the economy
growth of PRC is expected and with more construction investments are to
be made for 5G networks and data centres, and the development of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (the “Greater Bay”).

For the Group business in Singapore, leasing demand has improved in
second half of FY2021 due to the relief from the COVID-19 pandemic. The
Group will try its best to improve the leasing and machinery trading
businesses in FY2022.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Looking ahead, the Group would continue its investment in advanced
machines to alleviate the effect of price competition and will be
continuously disposing of our aged machines so as to maintain the
competitiveness and profitability of the Group in FY2022. More importantly,
the Group is ready to make quick and right responses to any change in the
economy globally caused by the pandemic, either on the positive or
negative side.

Last but not least, | would like to express my gratitude to the board for its
brilliant leadership, the entire staff for their untiring efforts during the Year,
as well as the strong support from our shareholders (the “Shareholders”). |
would also like to thank our investors, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their backing. We will continue to fortify AP Rental’s leadership
in the equipment rental industry, realize sustainable growth and generate
satisfactory returns for Shareholders.

The board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

By Order of the Board

Mr. Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
29 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHRED T

GROUP OVERVIEW

The Group strives to serve our valuable customers better with the provision
of the equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services. For
FY2021, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$5.7 million when
comparing to the loss amounting to approximately HK$19.7 million for
FY2020. The reduction in loss was mainly due to the net effect of:

1. impairment loss recognised on property, plant and equipment in the
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, a8 & 75 7 3% T 12 #
(/8)BBR 23] AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*, (‘AP Shanghai”),
since the leasing prices of leasing machines in the People’s Republic
of China (excluding Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative
Region of the PRC ("Macau’) and Taiwan for the purpose of this
report) ("PRC") declined due to the outbreak of the COVID-19. As
such, an impairment amounting to the equivalent of approximately
HKS$3.8 million was made;

2. reversal of impairment losses under expected credit loss model
recognised on receivables for the Group in FY2021 amounting to
approximately HK$1.5 million was recorded, when comparing to the
addition of impairment losses under expected credit loss model
recognised on receivables for the Group in FY2020 amounting to
approximately HK$5.6 million because the expected credit loss of
the Group decreased;

3. reduction in administrative expenses amounting to approximately
HK$3.4 million due to stringent control on expenses within the
Group;

4. increase in gross profit in FY2021 amounting to approximately

HK$2.4 million was recorded when comparing with the gross profit
in FY2020 amounting to approximately HK$16.1 million, which was
mainly due to the significant decrease in machinery hiring expenses
in FY2021; and

5. the receiving of government subsidies amounting to the equivalent
of approximately HK$5.7 million, which represent the wage subsidies
provided by the governments of Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore,
for supporting the employment and helping business tide over
financial difficulties due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

*  Foridentification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

For FY2021, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$148.5
million, representing an increase of approximately 1.8% as compared to
that of approximately HK$145.8 million for FY2020. For FY2021, the Group
recorded gross profit of approximately HK$18.5 million, representing an
increase of approximately 14.9% as compared to that of approximately
HKS$16.1 million for FY2020. The gross profit margin for FY2021 increased to
approximately 12.5% (FY2020: approximately 11.0%). Please refer to the
section headed “Financial Review” of this report for further details of the
Group's performance in FY2021.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$5.7
million in FY2021 (FY2020: approximately HK$19.7 million).

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company for FY2021 was
HK(0.66) cent (FY2020: HK(2.28) cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHRED T

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2021, the demands from the Third Runway & Improvements and
the KTS Park were the main sources of leasing income. However, the overall
market sentiment of the construction industry in Hong Kong was still poor,
especially on those construction work related to private sector, which led
to continuous price competition in construction and its related businesses,
especially after the outbreak of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic has also
affected the operating days of the work sites of our customers, which had
inevitably affected our leasing income in FY2021. Other than our main
market, namely the construction industry, the Group also lost its leasing
revenue in a minor market, namely the event business, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, the Group has tried its best to sidestep
such difficulties by increasing our leasing income from markets other than
the construction industry and the event business although its financial
effect was not material in FY2021. For the generator business with APS in
SSME, it has continuously contributed to more revenues and profit to the
Group in FY2021. For the operating service income, the Group has
provided more operators so as to promote the leasing of the products,
namely, the spider crane, excavator and crane, which led to great increase
in the income generated from equipment operating service in FY2021.

For the trading business and disposal of leasing machines, the Group still
maintained the revenues by selling and disposing more of its machines in
Hong Kong than overseas because of the global lockdowns, especially in
Asia region.

For Macau, the COVID-19 pandemic has also hit its economy seriously and
so the revenue of AP Equipment Leasing and Engineering Limited ("AP
Macau") decreased a lot when compared to that of FY2020.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED  +  ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

For Singapore, due to the COVID-19, there was lockdown from April 2020
and the lockdown related to the construction industry has been uplifted
on 1st August 2020 but the shortage of labour in most construction sites in
Singapore (due to the COVID-19 pandemic) has led to the closure of most
of the construction sites in August 2020. As such, AP Equipment Rentals
(Singapore) Pte. Limited (“AP Singapore”) recorded no income from July
2020 up to August 2020. However, the demands started to pick up from
September 2020 and reached its peak in March 2021.

For the PRC, despite the fact that its economy seemed to have gradually
recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic in FY2021, the demand on leasing
of construction machines was still weak and there was keen price
competition. The COVID-19 led to the acute shortage of labour and
disruption of upstream material supplier in the construction industry. Most
of the construction projects were delayed and the cost in the construction
soared up. As a result, the demands on leasing machines declined and the
rental price of construction machines declined. As such, AP Shanghai had
to lower the leasing prices of its leasing machines so as to increase its
competitiveness in the market.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Financial Review" of this
report.

PROSPECT

Currently, the economy recovery is quite slow in Asian countries, such as
India and Malaysia. The COVID-19 pandemic will still affect our machinery
trading and disposal activities in Asian countries in FY2022. Nevertheless,
the Group expects that our leasing related services would be gradually
improved in FY2022. Obviously, the Group would devote more effort in
developing the application of advanced technology into our business
model in the coming months so as to improve our competitiveness and
profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHRED T

PROSPECT (Continued)

In Hong Kong, our leasing business will still be focusing on our SSME
business and the demands in key projects, namely, the Third Runway &
Improvements and the KTS Park. The Group expects that there should be a
further increase in leasing demand in these two key projects in FY2022. In
addition, leasing demands is also expected to increase in the Central
Kowloon Route. For machinery sales, there are still orders to be delivered in
FY2022 for the Central Kowloon Route and the Group will also increase the
machinery sales and disposal of machinery overseas in FY2022 when the
lockdown in Asian countries is further uplifted in FY2022.

In Macau, the PRC government has relaxed some of its control over its
people in visiting Macau in late September 2020. However, the effect
seemed to be limited. The Group expects that the leasing demand in
Macau might not have improvement till 30 September 2021.

In the PRC, the COVID-19 pandemic still affected our business, especially in
Guangdong province, which has affected our business in the first quarter
of FY2022. However, the Group expects that the economy of the PRC will
continue to improve in FY2022 and the demand from the construction of
new infrastructures such as 5G networks and data centres will create
demands for construction machinery. With the reduction of the our leasing
price of our rental machines, the Group expects to have some degrees of
improvement on the leasing income in AP Shanghai in latter months of
FY2022. On the other hand, AP Shanghai will still consider any chance to
capitalize on the national policies of the PRC government to develop the
Greater Bay, which will bring along macroeconomic momentum and
opportunities.

For Singapore, the economy is picking up due to the relief from the
COVID-19 pandemic. Leasing demand has improved in second half of
FY2021. Therefore, the Group will try its best to increase the leasing and
machinery trading revenues in FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For FY2021, the Group recorded an increase in revenue of approximately

HKS$2.7 million, with the total revenue amounting to approximately

HK$148.5 million for FY2021

, representing an increase of approximately

1.8% as compared to that of approximately HK$145.8 million for FY2020.
The increase in revenue mainly resulted from the increase in revenue in all

segments of business of the Group except for the sales of machinery and

provision of other services income.

(i)

(ii)

Lease of machinery

During the period under review, the Group’s leasing income from
rental services, which involved the rental of construction, electrical
and mechanical engineering and event and entertainment
equipment in Hong Kong, Macau, PRC and Singapore, slightly
increased to approximately HK$101.9 million in FY2021 as compared
to that of approximately HK$101.7 million in FY2020.

As mentioned above, the Group’s rental business in Hong Kong
improved in FY2021 due to the reasons mentioned in the section
headed “Business Overview" above.

Rental income of machinery accounted for approximately 68.6% of
the Group's total revenue for FY2021 (FY2020: approximately 69.8%).
The decrease of the above percentage was due to the increase in
the equipment operating services.

Operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong Kong by
providing equipment operators to operate the equipment at the job
sites of its customers. For FY2021, revenue from equipment
operating services increased by approximately 52.3% to
approximately HK$12.8 million (FY2020: approximately HK$8.4
million), and accounted for approximately 8.6% of the Group's total
revenue for FY2021 (FY2020: approximately 5.8%). The increase in
operating service income for FY2021 was attributable to the fact that
the Group needed to increase the leasing income of certain
products, namely spider crane, crane and excavator. The provision of
operators could help the Group to maintain the leasing income from
these products and thus the operating service income increased
sharply when compared to that of FY2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERET A

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Other service income
The Group’s other service income, which arises from rental
arrangements including repair, maintenance, transportation and
technical support services during the rental period, recorded a
decrease amounting to approximately HK$6.3 million for FY2021
(FY2020: approximately HK$8.1 million). The Group's other service
income accounted for approximately 4.2% of the Group's total
revenue for FY2021 (FY2020: approximately 5.6%). The decrease
mainly came from the decrease in transportation service of
approximately HK$1.4 million, which was partly caused by the
tumbling of demands from event business due to the COVID-19
pandemic.

(iv) Sales of machinery and spare parts

The revenue from sales of machinery and spare parts decreased
slightly by approximately 0.3% from approximately HK$27.6 million
for FY2020 to approximately HK$27.5 million for FY2021 due to the
net effect of (i) the decrease in sales of machinery due to delay of
delivery so as to cope with customer’s working schedule (as
requested by a customer); (ii) a discount allowance given for
machinery sale; and (jii) an increase in sales of spare parts.

Cost of Sales and Services

The Group's cost of sales and services amounted to approximately
HK$130.0 million for FY2021, representing a period-on-period increase of
approximately 0.2% (FY2020: approximately HK$129.7 million). Cost of sales
and services mainly comprised machinery hiring expenses, staff costs for
the Group’s equipment operators, technicians and truck drivers, costs for
machinery and parts for trading and depreciation.

The cooperation agreement entered among AP Rentals Limited (“APR") (an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), &7+ E b
(Kanamoto Co,, Ltd.*) ("Kanamoto Japan’), a shareholder of the Company
and strategic partner of the Group, and Kanamoto (HK) Co., Limited
(“Kanamoto HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kanamoto Japan, on 19
June 2015 has been terminated on 18 June 2020. The Group has invested
on machines for leasing purpose and also increased the utilization rate of
its machinery for leasing. As a result, in FY2021, approximately 97.3% of the
leasing income of the Group was generated by the machines owned by
the Group.

For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales and Services (Continued)

As such, the Group recorded a decrease of approximately HK$16.5 million
in machinery hiring expenses during the period under review when
compared to that of FY2020. Nevertheless, the Group has also increased its
investment on machines and transferred its trading stock of machinery,
which would be used for leasing purpose, amounting to approximately
HK$26.2 million in FY2021. So the depreciation cost under the cost of sales
and services in FY2021 also increased by approximately HK$11.0 million.
Staff costs under the cost of sales and services increased by approximately
HK$3.2 million due to the promotion of leasing machines, namely crane,
spider crane and excavator, which led to the increase in number of
operators required. Costs for machinery and parts increased by
approximately 12.2% due to the increase of cost of machinery in FY2021.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's overall gross profit increased by approximately 14.9% from
approximately HK$16.1 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$18.5 million
for FY2021 and the Group's gross profit margin increased to approximately
12.5% for FY2021 (FY2020: approximately 11.0%).

Other Income

The Group recorded other income amounting to approximately HK$6.6
million in FY2021 (FY2020: approximately HK$2.5 million), which
represented an increase of approximately 162.2% from FY2020. The net
increase was due to the receiving of government subsidies amounting to
the equivalent of approximately HK$5.7 million, which represent the wage
subsidies provided by the governments of Hong Kong, Macau and
Singapore for supporting the employment and helping business tide over
financial difficulties due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the storage
income decreased by approximately HKS$1.3 million in FY2021.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses amounted to approximately HK$6.0 million in
FY2021 (FY2020: approximately HK$5.0 million), representing an increase of
approximately 20.2% over FY2020. The Group recorded an exchange gain
of approximately HK$0.6 million in FY2021 while there was an exchange
loss of approximately HK$0.5 million in FY2020.

A gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HKS$5.4 million was recorded in FY2021 (FY2020: approximately HKS5.4
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHRED T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Reversal of Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss
Model Recognised on Lease Receivables and Trade
Receivables, Net and the Impairment Loss Recognised on
Property, Plant and Equipment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has made impairment losses under
expected credit loss model recognised on lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of approximately HKS$5.6 million due to the outbreak of the
COVID-19. However, in FY2021, the receivables of the Group has been
improved and the expected default risk has decreased materially. As such,
reversal of impairment losses under expected credit loss model amounting
to approximately HK$1.5 million were booked in FY2021.

On the other hand, the Group has recognised an impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately HK$5.4
million, of which approximately HK$3.8 million was made for AP Shanghai
due to the decline of leasing prices of the leasing machines in the PRC.
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million and approximately HK$0.9 million were
made for AP Singapore and APR respectively, which was caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic that led to decrease in the market value of some
leasing equipment.

Administrative Expenses

For FY2021, administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$31.4
million (FY2020: approximately HK$34.8 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 9.9% over FY2020. The decrease in administrative expenses
was mainly due to the stringent control on the administrative expenses of
the Group, especially in AP Singapore.

Selling and Distribution Expenses
For FY2021
HK$0.5 million (FY2020: approximately HK$1.2 million). The decrease was
mainly due to (i) decrease in carriage outwards expenses as the Group
used its trucks instead of using its vendors’ trucks; and (ii) decrease in
marketing and promotional expenses.

, selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately

Finance Costs

Finance costs comprised interest on the Group's borrowings and trade
payables to Kanamoto HK, which amounted to approximately HKS$1.8
million (FY2020: approximately HK1.2 million). The trade payables to
Kanamoto HK carried an interest rate of 3.6% per annum and payable by 36
and 32 monthly instalments from 25 March 2020 and 25 June 2020
respectively, which amounted to approximately HK$0.7 million for FY2021
(FY2020: nil). The increase in interest was mainly due to the interest paid for
the trade payables to Kanamoto HK, which was incurred in buying the
leasing machines from Kanamoto HK in March and June 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Loss and Total Comprehensive Expenses for FY2021

The Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HKS$5.7 million for FY2021 (FY2020: approximately HK$19.7
million), representing a loss margin of approximately 3.8% (FY2020:
approximately 13.5%). The loss attributable to owners of the Company in
FY2021 was mainly due to the recognition of the impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment as explained above. The total
comprehensive expenses for FY2021 was approximately HK$4.6 million
(FY2020: approximately HK$19.8 million). The exchange differences arising
from translation of foreign operations was approximately HK$1.1 million in
FY2021 (FY2020: approximately HKS$(0.1) million). The increase was due to
the appreciation of Chinese Yuan.

Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditures in FY2021 primarily comprised
expenditures on machinery, vehicle, leasehold improvement and office
equipment, amounting to a total of approximately HK$24.8 million (for the
year ended 31 March 2020: approximately HK$69.6 million). The vast
majority of the capital expenditures were used to fund the expansion of
the Group's owned leasing fleet, which accounted for approximately 94.5%
of the total capital expenditure for FY2021.

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations and borrowings. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank
balances and cash equivalents of approximately HK$38.4 million (as at 31
March 2020: approximately HK$30.0 million) that were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen, Macau Pataca (“"MOP”), Singapore
Dollars, United States Dollars and Chinese Yuan, and had borrowings of
approximately HK$9.6 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$23.2
million) that were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and in United
States Dollars.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HK$43.9 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$55.7 million), of
which approximately HK$23.4 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$35.0 million) had been drawn down, and approximately HK$20.5
million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$20.7 million) were
unutilised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHRED T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (as at 31 March
2020: approximately 10.6%), which was calculated based on the net debt
divided by total equity. Net debt is defined as the sum of the interest
bearing liabilities, which include borrowings, loan from a related company,
bank overdraft, lease liabilities and trade payables carrying on an interest
rate of 3.6% per annum, minus the cash and cash equivalents.

Going forward, the Group expects to fund its future operations and
expansion plans primarily with cash generated from operations and
borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which are
different from the functional currencies of the Group, namely, Hong Kong
Dollars, and therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Payments made by the Group for the settlement of its purchases from
suppliers are generally denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen,
Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States Dollars. Payments
received by the Group from its customers are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars, MOP, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States
Dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency movement
and take proactive measures.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures during FY2021.

Significant Investments
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant investments.

Capital Commitments and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HKS$1.8 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$1.0 million) to
acquire leasing equipment for the Group.

The acquisition of leasing equipment will be funded by the Group's internal
resources and the banking facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2021, deposit placed for a life insurance policy of
approximately HK$2.8 million (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$2.8
million), leasing machinery of approximately HK$8.6 million as at 31 March
2021 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$10.3 million), and bank
deposits of approximately HK$0.4 million (as at 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$0.4 million) have been pledged to secure the Group's
borrowings of approximately HK$9.6 million (as at 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$23.1 million).

Segmental Information
Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed in note 5(a)
and 5(b) of this report.

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 116 employees (as at 31 March 2020:
120 employees), of which 106 employees were in Hong Kong (as at 31
March 2020: 112 employees), 4 employees were in Macau (as at 31 March
2020: 4 employees), 3 employees were in Singapore (as at 31 March 2020: 4
employees) and 3 employees were in PRC (as at 31 March 2020: nil).
Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with reference to the
market information and individual performance and will be reviewed on a
regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group also provides
medical insurance, makes contributions to provident funds and provides
other benefits to the employees. The total staff cost including
remuneration, other benefits and contributions to retirement schemes for
the directors of the Company and other staff of the Group for FY2021
amounted to approximately HK$45.9 million (FY2020: approximately
HKS$41.4 million). The increase in staff cost was mainly due to the increase
in headcount of operators, as explained in the section headed “Financial
Review” above, and annual salary review.

The Group's technical staff attend seminars jointly conducted by
manufacturers and the Group to acquire product knowledge to ensure
that they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. Such seminars include training regarding the equipment
structures, operational features, operator safety training and equipment
repair. In addition to the training jointly conducted by manufacturers and
the Group, the Group's technical staff also attend external training courses
and obtain relevant certificates.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IFHHME

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Revenue Wiz
Leasing income of Repizt: 2 N
machinery
Sales of machinery and R RS MHHEE
parts
Operating service income R RS
Other service income HA RIS KA
Gross profit EH
Other income HAb WA
Other gains and (losses) Hit ez & (F518)
Impairment loss recognised EHRME  EAMR
on property, plant and FEREEE
equipment
Reversal of (mpairment losses) 2 R FEURFE & FU8 K2
recognised on lease receivables & 5 JEU B
and trade receivables, net CREEE) B D FRE
(Loss) profit before tax BT (B518) mF
Income tax credit/(expense) 8RR,/ ()
(Loss) profit for the year REE (EE) T
Per share data BRER
(Loss) earnings per share =% (E1R) BT
— basic (HK cents) — EAR (L)
Financial ratios [y dn 2
Gross profit margin ENES
Net (loss) profit margin (FBBER)fiF =
Return on total assets BAERRE
Return on equity R ERE
Current ratio MBI K
Assets and liabilities EENBE
Total assets BEE
Total liabilities wARE
Total equity ks
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2021
2021 F
HK$000

FiEx

101,873

27,523
12,777
6,277

148,450

18,487

6,576
5,966

(5,363)

1,516

(6,536)
852

(5,684)

(X))

12.5%
(3.8%)
(1.8%)
(2.6%)
1.83

310,689
(94,556)

216,133

T FHMEHME
For the year ended 31 March
HBE3A31BALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017
20205 20194 20184 20176
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHT
101,691 112,086 144,383 143,121
27,594 10,549 41,081 17,612
8388 10,777 25,153 26512
8114 12,698 14,644 13,246
145,787 146,110 225,261 200,491
16,090 26,164 57,246 46,391
2508 4193 3,863 4,768
4,965 5,250 8363 1,956
(2,525) - - -
(5,600) (1,181) (12100 N/ATEA
(21,806) (2,382) 26,297 15,283
2127 (141) (5.216) (3312)
(19,679) (2,523) 21,081 11,971
(2.28) (0.29) 244 141
11.0% 17.9% 25.4% 23.1%
(13.5%) (1.7%) 9.4% 6.0%
(5.7%) (0.8%) 6.3% 3.6%
(8.9%) (1.0%) 8.6% 5.1%
1.28 167 222 1.77
344,909 332,056 333,666 334,856
(124,154) 91,511) (87,492) (101,424)
220,755 240,545 246,174 233,432




FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T F T 2

REVENUE (HKS Million) GROSS PROFIT (HKS Million)

3¢ g — -
W (mEsT) EXN(HEBT)
200.49 225.26
250.00 80.00
14.65 70.00
200.00
25.15 6000
146.11 148.45 57.25
145.79
41.08 6.28
15000 4 1278 5000
. 1270 811 2752 46.39
839 E
10.78 40.00
10.55 27.60
100.00 30.00
14438 26.16
1849
112.08 101.69 101.87 20.00
50.00 16.09
10.00
0.00 0.00
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 2018%F 20195 20204 20215 20174 201845 20195 20205 202145
[ | Leasing income of machinery W salesof machinery and parts
HAR AR A B R EHHE
. Operating service income . Other service income
LRI HoAth AR WA

(LOSS) PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

(HKS Million) (HK cents)
BB AEN(BE) &R (s B (E1E) BF 811
50.00 8.00
7.00
40.00
6.00
30.00 5.00
400
20.00 21.08 300
13.08* 244
1000 20 =
1.00
0.00
557 000 029) N \
-1.00
-10.00
568 B (0.66)
(5.68) 2.00 (2.28)
-20.00 (19.68) -3.00
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 2018%F 20195 2020%F 202145 20174 20185 20194 20205 20215

million).

#2127 BEET) AINARBHEE ABEREGH

DEABEERERAF -

Profit attributable to owners for the year ended 31 March 2017 represented reported profit attributable to owners of the Company before
deducting one-off listing expenses of approximately HK$1.11 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$21.27

HE2017F3831ALEEBEE ARGEFIERNBREZ20177E383ALEFE - A LTRAIM N EESTQ06FHREE -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IFHHME

FINANCIAL RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN (%)

EFIZ (%)

35.0%

30.0%

254%
20.0% 17.9%
10.0%
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 20184F 20194 20204 202145

RETURN ON TOTAL ASSET (%)
#E B RE (%)

30.0%

25.0%

20.0%

15.0%

10.0% 6.39

< oo 3.9%* ‘

U770
0,
0.0% 3.6% \&8/")\
0y
5.0% (5.7%)
-10.0%
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 2018%F 2019%F 2020%F 20214

CURRENT RATIO
BN

25 222

10

0.5

0.0
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 20184F 20194 20204 202145

(1.8%)

gt =

NET (LOSS) PROFIT MARGIN (%)
(FEER) AR (%)

25.0%
20.0%
15.0%
9.4%
10.0% 6:5%
50%
10
0.0% o0% K
-5.0% 170
b (17%) \ /ﬁ%)
-10.0% (13.5%)
-15.0% y
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174 20184 20194 2020%F 202145
RETURN ON EQUITY %)
>z s
Rz B R = (%)
60.0%
50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%
5.6%% 8.6%
10.0%
10
00% 51% (1.0%)
(8.9%) (2.6%)
-10.0%
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
20174F 20184 20194F 2020%F 20214

listing expenses of approximately HK$1.11 million for FY2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$21.27 million).
* 2017 FEABMFE A AEMS ARG 2017 FHBFE - A ETRAZA 1 BBET Q06 FHBFE : 2127 88BET) AN

AREHER AELRERF]
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Profit attributable to owners for the FY2017 represented reported profit attributable to owners of the Company before deducting one-off



The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The principal activities of the
Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 88.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$246.3 million (as at 2020: approximately HK$241.5
million).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 180 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (FY2020: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion of
the Group's future business development are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement’ and the "Management Discussion and Analysis” section
on pages 8 to 11 and on pages 12 to 23 of this annual report respectively.
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

The equipment rental industry is cyclical in general and its revenues are
tied to general economic conditions and to conditions in the construction
and electrical and mechanical engineering ('E&M" or "E&M engineering”)
industry in particular. Our products and services are used primarily in
construction projects which is cyclical and sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions. Weakness in our end-markets, such as a decline in
construction and E&M engineering activity, may decrease the demand for
the Group’s equipment or the rental rates or prices that the Group can
charge. Factors that may cause weakness in our end-markets include:

(i) global economic recession due to the outbreak of COVID-19
(i) increase in the cost of construction materials and labour costs; and
(i) adverse changes in the government infrastructure spending.

Further description of possible capital risks and financial risks facing the
Group are set out in note 29 and note 30 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Foreign Exchange
Risk” on page 22 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group's Five Year Financial
Summary and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Review’ on pages 24 to 26 and on pages 17 to 23
of this annual report respectively. Particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended
31 March 2021, if any, can also be found in this section and the above
sections of this annual report and notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment. In terms of environmental friendliness, we have obtained the
Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment ("QPME") identification for most
of our rental equipment to which the QPME system is applicable, and we
have filed application for all our equipment which are subject to the Air
Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "NRMM" Regulation), and
have obtained the NRMM label for most of such equipment.

Further details on (i) the Group'’s environmental policies and performance;
and (ii) the Group's compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group will be set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report’.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) will be published within three months after the
publication of the annual report of the Company.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to
its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a
close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services
to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The
Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our
staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The
Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and
development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of
the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same
time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The Group maintains good
working relationships between the Group and the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers to
gain insight on the changing market demand for different products so that
the Group can respond proactively.

The Group maintains sound business relationship with its suppliers and
service providers. In order to have better and close monitoring of suppliers’
performance, the Group’s management conducts performance review
regularly targeting the Group's major suppliers and service providers, and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
5 financial years are set out on page 24 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

In FY2021, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donation made by the Group during the year was HK$500.0
(FY2020: Nil).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to
eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2021, no
share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
(@  The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) had made or may
make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company with the view to achieving the following principal
objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

(c)  For the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, “Eligible
Participant’ means any person who satisfies the eligibility
criteria in paragraph 2 below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
2.  Who may join and basis for determining eligibility

(a)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of
any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a
company beneficially owned by any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

In order for a person to satisfy the Board that he/she/it is
qualified to be (or, where applicable, continues to qualify to
be) an Eligible Participant, such person shall provide all such
information as the Board may request for the purpose of
assessing his/her/its eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

Each grant of options to a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), must be approved in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Should the Board resolve that a grantee fails/has failed or
otherwise is/has been unable to meet the continuing
eligibility criteria under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company would (subject to any relevant laws and regulations)
be entitled to deem any outstanding option or part thereof,
granted to such grantee and to the extent not already
exercised, as lapsed, subject to certain requirements (the
details of which are set out in the section headed "Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the prospectus of the
Company dated 24 March 2016 (the “Prospectus”)).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BREE @
3. Maximum number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) 3. AHBITHNALITRE (KRG 1) HE

available for issue

(@) The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the
said 30% limit being exceeded.

(b)  The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 8 April 2016 (the “Listing
Date”), and such 10% limit represents 86,400,000 Shares.
86,400,000 Shares represents 10% of the total Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to
be granted to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of such grant. Any grant of
further share options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements provided under the Listing Rules.

Time of exercise of option

(@)  Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant
thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
is not more than ten years from the date of grant of option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) MRS S ()

5. Time of exercise of option (Continued) 5.

(b)  There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the
time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

6. Consideration for share options and the exercise price 6.

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time on a business day within ten years
commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme to
offer the grant of an option to any Eligible Participant as the Board
may in its absolute discretion select in accordance with the eligibility
criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall be
accepted when the Company receives the duly signed offer letter
together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other
sum in any currency as the Board may determine).

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business
day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share
as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant. The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments
(the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Options may be granted to Eligible Participants under the Share
Option Scheme during the period of ten years commencing on the
effective date of the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately four years and eight months
as at the date of this annual report.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section
headed “"Share Option Scheme” on pages IV-12 to IV-22 in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group's five largest customers are as follows:

19.1%
36.9%

The largest customer
The five largest customers in aggregate

The percentages of total purchases (defined as the sum of (i) the Group’s
total cost of sales less staff cost and depreciation and (ii) purchases of the
Group’s owned rental equipment) for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

26.6%
61.6%

The largest supplier
The five largest suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, have any
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers and suppliers except that
Kanamoto Japan holds approximately 7.5% of the shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report and Kanamoto HK is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Kanamoto Japan. Kanamoto Japan and Kanamoto HK,
contributed in aggregate, to the supply of approximately 10.0% of total
purchases of the Group and are two of the Group's five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)
Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Non-executive Director
Nakazawa Tomokatsu

Independent non-executive Directors
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

Siu Chak Yu

Li Ping Chi

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

By virtue of Article 84 of the Articles, 2 Directors, namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing
and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, will retire from office at the 2021 AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 66 to 76 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) are as follows:
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Approximate
Percentage of

Number of Total Issued
Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares Shares (%)
HEBTROBH
5L EaME ROEE B E 2L (%)
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Note 1, 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
ZIFR S (MEE1 - 2) REAE R
Interest of spouse 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
Ao Bt s
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (Note 3, 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
BRI L (53~ 4) Ry EE R
Interest of spouse 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
[N
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

The Company was directly owned as to 42.08% by New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House"). By virtue of his 100%
shareholding in New Club House, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau") is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New Club
House.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (“Ms. Chan"). Under the
SFO, Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Ms. Chan is interested.

The Company was directly owned as to 32.92% by Great Club House
Holdings Limited (“Great Club House"). By virtue of her 100%
shareholding in Great Club House, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in
the same number of Shares held by Great Club House.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lau is interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2021, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV

of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company, which
are required to be disclosed under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
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R2021F 38318 BEEMA - U TAL(CK
RAESHESITHRABRIN EELEERE

UNGIE ISR el qﬂ?ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ%*’*ﬁ&ﬁﬁiﬂ%u
EXVEEE 2 3D EIGSCEEL BB IR IR E

K HRE 16 I 55 336 18R 2R 50 A RZ 6 BT il B A2 il 9 5%
A FRIR D REmSORBEINT -
Approximate

Percentage of

Total Number the Issued
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest of Shares Held Share Capital
HERITRE
BRRERB EEME PRI B BAED
New Club House' (Note 1) Beneficial interest 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
New Club House' (Ffi&E 1) Eam it
Great Club House? (Note 2) Beneficial interest 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
Great Club House? (Ffi 5% 2) oy 2l
Kanamoto Japan® (Note 3) Beneficial interest 64,800,648 (L) 7.50%

AR (HEE3) BaEn
Note 1: It is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. It is a controlling

shareholder holding 363,528,000 shares of the Company.

Note 2: It is directly wholly-owned by Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina. It is a controlling
shareholder holding 284,471,352 shares of the Company.
Note 3:  Itis a shareholder holding 64,800,648 shares of the Company.

L): Long position

“New Club House": New Club House International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8
June 2015.

2 “Great Club House": Great Club House Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8 June 2015.

3 "Kanamoto Japan’: Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (£ =, £ %L 77 7 F ), a company
incorporated in Japan on 24 September 1937.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors were not aware
of any other corporation or individual (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

For identification purposes only

MaET ﬁEE%UiBﬂZSEEE 2EHER - HEABEER
A7) 363,528,000 A% A% 17 KO E AR AR 5. -

MiE2: HAMRZELTEE2EHE - HABEXR
A7) 284,471,352 AR A0 HIE AR AR R -

EE3 . HABIFE AR T 64,800,648 BXAE 15 HIARER -

L: HE

! [New Club House | : New Club House International
Holdings Limited * 5220154 6 A 8 B 1€ % & i 22 Bf
SEMKIHEREERT

? [ Great Club House] : Great Club House Holdings
Limited * 7220154 6 A 8 B £ % 8 2 2 B & 71
B BREEAR]

E [# 4 B | : Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (#k X &4+
) 1937479 A24 B TE A ARG A I B A F] ©

M EXCET#EEESN c R2021F3B31H B
REBEAE R A KEAA (AR RESEHKITR
BHBRIN RARTRDIABBIRG R HEE =
ok B MALSNIRIRE S K HIEGH %336 1§
FEREDERMA -

* EXEsl
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides, among
other things, that the Directors and other officers shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses as a result
of any act or failure to act in carrying out his/her functions. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme" disclosed above,
at no time during the year, the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its subsidiaries. Save as disclosed in this
report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the
age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares or debentures
of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such right during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2021, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors and their respective associates that had competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group
except those disclosed under the section headed “Non-Competition
Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders".

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed a total of 116 employees (as at
1 March 2020 : 120 employees). For the year ended 31 March 2021, the

staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$45.9 million

(FY2020: approximately HK$41.4 million).

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature.
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REMUNERATION POLICY (Continued)

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to eligible employees.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme’) for its Hong Kong employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000
per month.

The total costs charged to loss for the year of approximately HK$ 1,504,000
(FY2020: approximately HK$1,474,000), comprised approximately
HK$72,000 and HKS$1,432,000 (FY2020: approximately HK$72,000 and
HKS$1,402,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff costs respectively,
and represented contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the
Group in respect of the current accounting period. At the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future obligations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non- executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2021 or
during the year.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM IPO

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since 8 April 2016. The net proceeds from IPO of the Company
(after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) were
approximately HK$81.8 million. The following table sets forth the status of
the use of proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2021 and the expected

BARABREMBN
RRNBRD B 2016F4 5

HFEAR
8RB R AER L

Mo RARBRAMBEEMESFIEFRGIGE

HEREERAXR)OE
DI 2021 FE3 A3 B E

BISEHBBIIL . TRH
AR E TSR

FI1E 0 & B B R ) B P15 SRR % RE /0 78 B RS

timeline for utilising the unutilized net proceeds: =
Expected
Utilised Unutilised timeline for
up to asat utilising the
Net proceeds 31 March 31 March unutilised
from IPO 2021 2021 net proceeds
HZE20215F R2021%F BRAKRBHA
BXARBE 3A31AL 3318 FEBREFHEN
FEREFEE CBHANE X<BAFKE FAHREXR
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Investment in rental equipment [ FE R IR A 58,242 58,242 -
Development of GPS equipment R 2 HAETE 8,507 7,006 1,501 Bytheend of
monitoring system FENL AR R 31 March 2022
ES ) 202253 A31H
ERAT
Investment in transportation BRRERE 5,808 5,808 -
equipment
Improvement of facility FANE B R 3,517 1,838 1,679  Bythe end of
for maintenance of the REMZRE 31 March 2022
Group's equipment 202243 A318
ERET
General working capital —REEES 5,726 5,726 -
81,800 78,620 3,180
The unutilised amounts of the net proceeds from IPO will be applied in B /X AR 3 & RS FIEF R R B A RUES L1

such manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

Asoem Framework Agreement

The Company entered into a framework agreement with Asoem
(Int'l) Investment Company Limited ("Asoem”) on 1 April 2021 (the
“Asoem Framework Agreement’) governing the transactions
between Asoem and members of the Group in connection with (i)
the sales of equipment and vehicles and their peripheral and spare
parts and provision of related services from Asoem to the Group
("Asoem Type A Transactions”); and (ii) the sales of equipment
and vehicles and their peripheral and spare parts and provision of
related services from the Group to Asoem ("Asoem Type B
Transactions’). At any time during the term of the Asoem
Framework Agreement, the relevant members of the Group and
Asoem may from time to time enter into definitive agreement(s) in
relation to any Asoem Type A Transactions and Asoem Type B
Transactions. All definitive agreements shall:

(@)  bein writing and set out the terms and conditions on which
the transactions shall be undertaken;

(b)  beinthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(©)  be on normal commercial terms (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or more favorable to the Group;

(d)  (in the case of Asoem Type A Transactions) reflect the then
prevailing market rates and no less favorable than the terms
and conditions offered by an independent third party;

(e)  (in the case of Asoem Type B Transactions) reflect the then
prevailing market rates and no more favorable than the terms
and conditions offered to an independent third party;

() have a fixed term period not exceeding three years (or if over
three years, must be confirmed by an independent financial
adviser (as defined in the Listing Rules) that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such
duration);
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) BFEBRERS (&)
1. Asoem Framework Agreement (Continued) 1. AsoemEZHZE (&)

(g) set out the basis for calculating the payments to be made
(including, without limitation, the sales costs and service fees
(where applicable));

(h)  set out the other terms for the individual transactions which
shall comply with the terms of the Asoem Framework
Agreement;

(i) be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole; and

§) be in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
(including, without limitation, the Listing Rules), all relevant
constitutional documents and the Asoem Framework
Agreement.

As Asoem is owned as to 100% by Lau Pong Man, the brother of Lau
Pong Sing and the brother-in-law of Chan Kit Mui Lina, each being a
director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, Asoem is
therefore their associate and a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap amounts for the transactions contemplated under
the Asoem Framework Agreement for each of the years ending 31
March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall not exceed
HK$2,990,000.

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for
the transactions contemplated under the Asoem Framework
Agreement are less than 5% and the annual cap is less than
HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the Asoem
Framework Agreement are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

(@) #IFEBELFE(BEETRR

SHEKARRBAAR(NER)) B E
A

(h  EFIFE Asoem HEZL 17 KR A (@ B

R HH) EAD IR

Aiéﬁ&?”\$ A R H IR R
R

g Bl

() FEMEERREER(BIEETR
R EMARRD - FTERBEER XX
Asoem HEZE 5% ©

A7 Asoem A3 B F A B9 52, 30 I FROR G Y /)N
B FBRGESF 1000z - MR FBK KRR
WEARATERRIERRE - AERE
EHRBIZE14AFE - Asoem B SHIBE A
MARRRIRBEAL -

H E2022%F3A318 2023538318 &
20243 A31 A IE & EFE - Asoem E 38
HRBEBTHETHNRINEE LRSET
15783 2,990,000 # T °

AR BB AscemEZRHETE N ETHR
SNFELRNMBEERBE DL ERER %
N &EE R 3,000,000 TC » K Asoem
ERBHEETRETHNRZEL2EHRRE
SFEMRAUBUAZE THRERE  F
EEEARMBEERT -



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

2.

A-One Pong Framework Agreement

The Company entered into a framework agreement with A-One
Pong Construction Equipment Limited (“A-One Pong") on 1 April
2021 (the "A-One Pong Framework Agreement’) governing the
transactions between A-One Pong and members of the Group in
connection with (i) the sales of equipment and vehicles and their
peripheral and spare parts and rental of equipment and vehicles and
provision of related services from A-One Pong to the Group (“A-One
Pong Type A Transactions”); and (i) the sales of equipment and
vehicles and their peripheral and spare parts and rental of
equipment and vehicles and provision of related services from the
Group to A-One Pong (“A-One Pong Type B Transactions”). At any
time during the term of the A-One-Pong Agreement, the relevant
members of the Group and A-One Pong may from time to time
enter into definitive agreement(s) in relation to any A-One Pong
Type A Transactions and A-One Pong Type B Transactions. All
definitive agreements shall:

(@) bein writing and set out the terms and conditions on which
the transactions shall be undertaken;

(b)  beinthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(©)  be on normal commercial terms (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or more favorable to the Group;

(d)  (in the case of A-One Pong Type A Transactions) reflect the
then prevailing market rates and no less favorable than the
terms and conditions offered by an independent third party;

(e)  (in the case of A-One Pong Type B Transactions) reflect the
then prevailing market rates and no more favorable than the
terms and conditions offered to an independent third party;

() have a fixed term period not exceeding three years (or if over
three years, must be confirmed by an independent financial
adviser (as defined in the Listing Rules) that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such
duration);

(g  set out the basis for calculating the payments to be made
(including, without limitation, the sales costs and service fees
(where applicable));
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
2. A-OnePong Framework Agreement (Continued)
(h)  set out the other terms for the individual transactions which
shall comply with the terms of the A-One-Pong Framework
Agreement;

(i) be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole; and

() be in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
(including, without limitation, the Listing Rules), all relevant
constitutional documents and the A-One-Pong Framework
Agreement.

As A-One Pong is wholly-owned by Lau Pong Ming, brother of Lau
Pong Sing and the brother-in-law of Chan Kit Mui Lina, each being a
director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, A-One Pong
is therefore their associate and a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap amounts for the transactions contemplated under
the A-One Pong Framework Agreement for each of the years ending
31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall not exceed
HK$2,990,000.

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for
the transactions contemplated under the A-One Pong Framework
Agreement are less than 5% and the annual cap is less than
HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the A-One Pong
Framework Agreement are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by
the Group after 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FERERS (1)
2. F-PERBREGE
(h BT EE—BER G ZFRAE R
R HEEAM K

) BAFRERFEARREREBIRN

BRI R

0 HAREEREEL(REETR
W ETRA) - FARRE R
%~ FHIER S -

88 — FB e BIFB AR O L 26 R BRIZ Mg EY /)
MEIMAZEES - MBIBRKEREIEE
BARBEREMERECR - BibiRE Em
BRAIF AT F—HARRENBEAR
ARBBBEATL ©

H Z2202F3H31H 2023F3A318 &
204F3 AN ALETEFE - 5 —HIEZE
BRETHETHIINFELRSEDT
1588 2,990,000 T ©

MR EE —BIELRBHE THH#EITHRZ
SWFE LR BEMB 5 RER 5%
N AFEE R 53,000,000 7T » #E —FB
ERMHEB THETHZHETEMABRE
FLEMRAZUATE THRELE - F
EERERMBRERT

WREHRER
R2021F3A3BRBLKEEAFHRAE  ARA
RAREBWEETEARSHEREE -

BEARS
RESEBBREPETHNERBEH TS ES
RERE RIS ©



RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

APR entered into an agreement (the “Subcontract Agreement”’) on 18
March 2017 with Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Lau Pong Sing, the chairman and the executive director of the
Company and the controlling shareholder of the Company, for the two
extended residual contracts (the “Residual Contracts”’), which were
entered into with entities which provided public services. The Group
encountered difficulties in obtaining consents from these entities for the
novation of the Residual Contracts to the Group. The Subcontract
Agreement should continue in full force and effect till 31 December 2018
and the aggregate sum being paid or to be paid by Ajax Pong Construction
Equipment Limited to APR pursuant to the Subcontract Agreement and
the definitive agreements for each of the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2018 shall not exceed HK$2.2 million. Detail of the Residual Contracts
are set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 24 March 2016.

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the Subcontract Agreement are less than
5% and the annual cap is less than HK$3,000,000, the transactions
contemplated under the Subcontract Agreement are fully exempt from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The figure amounting to
approximately HK$15,000 for 2020 in Note 35 to consolidated financial
statements was related to goods under the Subcontract Agreement
delivered in the year ended 31 March 2020.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions set out in
Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions, or they constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders’” approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY
On 29 January 2019, the dividend policy was approved by the Board with
details as set out below.

Provided that the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal
operations of the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account various factors
including but not limited to, (i) the cashflow of the Group, whether it is
adequate for the Group to operate its daily operation; (ii) capital
requirements of the Group; (iii) operating results and performance of the
Group; (iv) the indebtedness of the Group; (v) the economic outlook; (vi)
the compliance of any signed financial covenants of the Group; and (vii)
the future prospects of the Group, as well as the interests of the
Shareholders.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company are also subject to
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules).

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance that a dividend will
be proposed or declared in any specific period.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting ("AGM") of the Company to be held on 26 August 2021, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 20 August 2021
to 26 August 2021 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 August 2021.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2021 AGM.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

By order of the Board

LAU Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2021

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EESHE

Nl

HETREFEANBBERR KRR

ARAR Y TABERMERFERR A EFMERT
PR AV TS FR SRS ©

EE:929
EEFHTESE
&% 20216 A29H

DREABEERERAR « 2021 F5#H

49



50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

/\_LI_/-r/-\— N

PEEIAME

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and
improve its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has engaged an
international consulting firm (the “Consultant”) to review and recommend
appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is complying with
the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to
internal controls assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance advising services. A review on the Company’s corporate
governance practices was conducted by the Consultant for FY2021, and
the Company has been improving its corporate governance practices
continuously with reference to the Consultant's recommendations.
Moreover, the Company has adopted its corporate governance practices
which are reproduced from the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (“CG Code"), save and except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company are both performed by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. The Board believes
that vesting of the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same individual provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership, efficient usage of resources and allows for effective planning,
formulation and implementation of the Company’s business strategies
which will enable the Company to sustain the development of its business
efficiently.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted The Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors of the Company. The Company has made
specific enquiries to all directors of the Company regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code. All the directors of the Company
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code in FY2021.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY THE
BOARD

The Board provides leadership and guidance to the Group's activities and is
responsible for formulating the overall strategies and determining the
direction of future development of the Group. The Board oversees the
Group's operation and financial performance. The Board has delegated its
powers to the management for the Group’s daily management and
operations.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Currently, the Board comprises two executive Directors, one non- executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. Since there are
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board. As such, there exists a strong
independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Board comprises the following Directors:
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2IFBX ) (Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (BR218) (Chief Operating Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (£ & 52)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (fAl$£%%)

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (FE/2F)

Mr. Li Ping Chi (/)

The Chairman and executive Director, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, is the spouse of
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, an executive Director. The executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, are interested in the
shares of the Company through their interest in New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House") and Great Club House
Holdings Limited ("Great Club House") respectively (for details, please
refer to the Prospectus). Instances of actual or potential conflict have been
identified and minimised. Please refer to the “Directors and Senior
Management’, ‘Directors’ Report — Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and
"Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected Transactions, Related
Party Transactions’ on pages 66 to 76, pages 37 to 40, pages 43 to 47 in
this annual report respectively for more details. Save as disclosed above,
the Directors have no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with one another as at the date of this annual report.

Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

Coming from diverse business and professional backgrounds, the non-
executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company have shared their valuable experiences to the Board for
promoting the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
non-executive Director and all of the independent non-executive Directors
are appointed under an initial term of three years and are also subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Directors, a written confirmation of his independence to the Company
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary induction,
training and information to ensure that he/she has proper understanding
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations prior to his/her appointment. The Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development courses
and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company will continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular
seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, all Directors have attended training
in connection with their responsibilities as a director of the Company, and
the attendance of each of the Directors is set out in the table below:
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Name of Director Attendance

EENA HE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HTESR

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2IFB5X) SUFBAK A v
(Chairman; Chief Executive Officer) (FE 7TiEAE%)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (FR2#§) PR v
(Chief Operating Officer) (BEEE)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (P /2 & 52, ) IR T A v

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BAKEHITES

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (fa]$2 %) A dEZRiE - TI2AD v

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (F2F) BETFLEE v/

Mr. Li Ping Chi (EfRE) FIRELAE v

X Not attended v/ Attended

X FEHE v BtE
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company on 17 March 2016 for an initial term of three years
commencing from 8 April 2016, and may be terminated pursuant to the
respective terms of the service agreements. Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu, a
non-executive Director, entered into a letter of appointment dated 14
December 2018 with the Company for an initial term of three years, and
may be terminated pursuant to the terms of the letter of appointment.

In April 2019, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with no fixed term but may be terminated
pursuant to the respective terms of the service agreement (including the
termination by 3 months’ prior notice in writing by either party to the
service agreement). The basic directors’ emoluments for Mr. Lau Pong Sing
and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina are HK$2,808,000 for 12 months and
HK$2,304,000 for 12 months, respectively. In addition, each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Siu Chak
Yu and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years and may
be terminated pursuant to the respective terms of the letters of
appointment. Each of Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a
remuneration in the sum of HK$21,000 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum of HK$52,500 per
month.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
the Directors are governed by the Articles. Article 83(3) of the Articles
provides that any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company ("“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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At the last AGM held on Wednesday, 26 August 2020, Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina and Mr. Li Ping Chi have retired. Both of them have been re-elected as
Directors of the Company at the last AGM.

BOARD MEETING

Pursuant to the CG Code provision A.1.1, the Board should meet regularly
and board meetings should be held at least four times a year. The Board
meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate in Board meetings either in person or through electronic means
of communications.

If a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Director shall
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 10 Board meetings were held and 1
general meeting of the Company were held. Set out below are details of
the attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, committee
meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 31 March
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THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the Company
can communicate with the shareholders. The last AGM was held on 26
August 2020 and the upcoming AGM will be held on 26 August 2021.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively the "“Board
Committees’). The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance with
their respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises three
members, all being independent non- executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi (Chairman).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, reviewing the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and overseeing the internal control
procedures of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 10 meetings of the Audit
Committee were held to make recommendations to the Board as follows:
(i) on the re-appointment of the auditor and to approve the engagement
letter of the auditor; (i) advise the Board to engage the Consultant to
provide advisory services about the internal controls assessment, enterprise
risk management and corporate governance advising services for FY2021;
and (iii) review reports on continuing connected transactions for every six
months.
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On 24 June 2021, a meeting was held to conduct a review of the
Company's continuing connected transactions. On 29 June 2021, a
meeting was held to review the Group's financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
complied with the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee oversees the corporate governance functions of the
Company. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to
corporate governance functions are set out in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee. Upon the listing of the Company, the Audit Committee
appointed the Consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The
review covered the Company’s terms of reference of board committees,
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The Consultant has
provided certain recommendations on improving the Company’s
corporate governance practices, which the Company has adopted
accordingly to ensure sound corporate governance practices.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprises three members, being
one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li
Ping Chi. Accordingly, a majority of the members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 1T meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held to review composition of board members.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, being one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu (Chairman) and Mr. Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a
majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and
on the establishment of a set of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on such remuneration; (i) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives; and (iii) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and members
of senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 1 meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held to review the remuneration package of the staff of
the Group and to make recommendations to the Board on such
remuneration packages.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND
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Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual  RIEDEEASFRISFAE X EBISE » REE
remuneration of the senior management of the Company then in officeby 202193 A31 B ILFEE - AR B EBEENEHR
band for the year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows: EIRERARIB D NFEEEHMEFBET
Number of individuals AE

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
E FE AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 745 7T 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 77T 2 3,000,000 7T 2
Total 4@t 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March

2021 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER COMMITTEES

A Risk Management Committee under the management of the Company
has been established. The Risk Management Committee comprises three
members, being two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, and one senior staff member of the Company,
namely Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The primary responsibilities of the Risk
Management Committee are to deliberate risk management related
policies and procedures, review the effectiveness of risk management
activities and handle issues of emergency.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 2 meetings were held to (i) review
the risks of the Company due to the outbreak of the COVID-19; and (ii)
work with the Consultant to identify risk events, establishing the risk
inventory, performing risk assessment and formulating risk mitigation plans
for preparing the risk management report for the Group. The Group has
then implemented a series of policies to protect the staff, including
working from home and provision of necessary sanitizing products.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has a board diversity policy (which was revised on 29 January
2019). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
qualifications, industry and regional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

AL AsAe N +
PEE RS

HttEES
EARRMEERTEXRIREREIEZES - AR
EREZEEmM=-EREEN  ETMERNTE
= (ARIAKREERRRGL L) R~ R RBAAF
SRET(EEHEL) - RRERZEENT
ZRE /PN EREEZRFERRLER - Ba R
R EIRRB RN - WERIBREEM -

REZE2021F3A831BIEFE - ARE] GE8RITH
RE LA () ET AR &) E COVID-19 B R 3 1 A ¥
WER - () EEMEESIRR S - ST
BB B BT R TS R HIERE R AR Sl -
AR EE N EREIRRE - AEBMETEREHE
T—RIRENREET  BEREVNENHES
A RERIERZYE -

EEESTLEE
EXGEHEEFTE L TEBUER (R 201951 A
9BMEET) c ARFRHHLREERTENES
TAEHBRARRRRRERERRS - BBER
ZERXJEREEFERES T  ZERESB
FETENMUER - Fi - MBS RER - UK
HEER FEER 1TERMERLR - X8
MERRISFER - TEEETSHEDNERHER
FAAMARA - ZRABRRGIZEZEER - Wi
PEREFEZITEREE -

TRBHEHEERBRAR « 2021 FER

59



60

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PEERBE

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

1. Purpose and objectives
On 29 January 2019, the director nomination policy (the "Policy”)
was approved by the Board with details as set out below:

1.1 The Policy sets out the procedures and criteria to be adopted
by the Nomination Committee of the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
Directors.

1.2 The Policy aims at ensuring that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.

2, Selection criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
("Selection Criteria”) when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

whether the individual’s educational background and
qualification, skills and experience are relevant to the
Company's business model and specific needs;

the individual’s character and reputation for integrity;

whether the individual would be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(in respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors) independence of the
individual with reference to the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

how the individual would be able to contribute to the diversity
of the Board with reference to the factors set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company from time to time in force;

and

Board succession planning considerations.
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3. Procedures and process for nomination of Directors
3.1 The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy such
channel(s) for identifying suitable director candidates as it
deems appropriate, including but not limited to referrals from
existing Directors, Shareholders, advisers and third party
agency firms and advertisements.

3.2 The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the potential
candidates, such as interviews, background checks and third
party reference checks, and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals to be nominated
for directorships based on the Selection Criteria.

3.3 The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment
of Directors shall rest with the Board.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House and Great Club
House (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), have entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) with the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company have irrevocably undertaken to the
Company that he/she/it would not, and would procure that his/her/its
close associates (except any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, among
other things, carry on, participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire
or hold (in each case whether as shareholder, director, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which is or may be in competition with the business currently
carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the Group
(save and except for certain residual contracts of which shall be terminated
upon their respective expiry dates (the details of which are set out in the
Prospectus)). Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May
2019 ("Supplemental Deed’) with the Controlling Shareholders to amend
the Deed of Non-competition. Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the
geographic coverage under the definition of “Restricted Business” (as
defined in the Deed of Non-competition) and the undertaking given by the
Controlling Shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC. The details
of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019,
respectively.
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The Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations thereunder are
conditional upon (i) the independent shareholders of the Company having
approved the Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations
thereunder at a general meeting of the Company as required by and in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and (ii) the completion of the
transactions contemplated under the Equity Transfer Agreement (as
defined in the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019). The
Supplemental Deed and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
approved at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25 June
2019. Completion of the Acquisition took place on 20 September 2019.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided confirmation(s) in
respect of compliance with his/her/its undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition (as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed)
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders of the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition (as amended and supplemented by the
Supplemental Deed) and were satisfied that each of the Controlling
Shareholders has complied with his/her/its undertaking during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditors in respect of its audit services and non-audit services
provided to the Group were approximately HKS$1.6 million and HK$0.4
million, respectively. The non-audit services consist of taxation, internal
controls assessment, enterprise risk management, corporate governance
advising services and other services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 77 to 84.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors determines the nature and extent of
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and
has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Committee
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a
set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system. The internal controls are designed to
meet the Group's particular needs and to minimise the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risks to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Company engaged the Consultant to review the
effectiveness of certain of the Group's internal controls assessment,
enterprise risk management and corporate governance matters.
Deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal controls are
identified and recommendations are proposed for improvement.
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure prompt
remedial actions are taken. Results of internal controls review are reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. During the year
under review, the Consultant has issued the internal controls report (“IC
Report’), enterprise risk management report ("ERM Report’) and the
Corporate Governance report (“CG Report”) to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The Board has adopted the advice made in the IC Report, the
ERM Report and the CG Report and has continuously improving its
corporate governance practices and risk management with reference to
the Consultant’s recommendations.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective and
have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk management and
internal control throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary’) is performed by Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training annually to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communications between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong, which is presently situated at Unit 806A, 8th Floor,
Tower lI, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY
SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set
out above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting'.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 17 March 2016, the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company which took
effect from 8 April 2016. There was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021.

By order of the Board

Lau Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
29 June 2021
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREIEE

OVERVIEW ME
The table below contains certain information about our Directors and ~ FEREINETEHRES RS REEBNER -
senior management.
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAREE EZEAABN
nE Fix B B 5 #9 B #8 RASEHNRE
Mr. Lau Pong Sing 64 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Our overall management
(BIFBAK) Chairman; Chief and business development;
executive officer setting business strategies,
direction and goals
IR 64  HWITES X 2004F 12828 2015F6A11H  HMMEBEEREFERE:
1THUAREL HIEXBRE  Fm R
ERES
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina 63 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Overseeing our
(BRZH) Chief operating administration, financial
officer control and human
resources
R L 63  HITEE: 2004F12ANEB 20156 ANA  EERMOTER - BRI
EEMAE RATER
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu 48 Non-executive 14 December 2018 14 December 2018  Supervising the management
(FER®) Director of the Company
FERREE 48 EHITER 2018F 128148 2018F 12148 EEARANER
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, 82 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
Raymond (fAl§E2R) Non-executive of the Company
Director
B FRE L TI2AD 82  BMIFWTEZR 2016F3A178  2016F3[178  EEARANER
Mr. Siu Chak Yu 60 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(FRETF) Non-executive of the Company
Director
BETEE 60  BUIFWTEZF 016F3R17H 201653170 EEARANER
Mr. Li Ping Chi 61 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(ERE) Non-executive of the Company
Director
FIRERE 61 BUIFRTER 016F3 A 17H 201653178 EEARANER
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s=ZNEAEEE

OVERVIEW (Continued) WE @
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAREE EZEA RN
i Fik B # B8 # B RASENHRE
Mr. Shinji Mitsuya 67 Director of 3 March 2017 3 March 2017 Oversee the operations
=XED) AP Singapore business in AP Singapore,
a subsidiary of the
Company in Singapore
—REEZSRAE 67  APSingapore E % 201743 A3H 017F3A3H  EEARRIRRIINKED
Bt /& /2 &) AP Singapore
Sy —)
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung 35 Vice president — 1 April 2009 1 April 2014 Overseeing our sales and
(B74%) sales and marketing marketing affairs
£l 35 Bl (SHE RE1H) 20094 A1H 014F4A1H  EERMNHEERSHEHER

Mr. Wong Cheuk Man 55 Financial controller 1 January 2010
(E280)

TEGEE 55 B T4 EL 20101 A1 8

Notes:

(1) Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.

2) Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.

(3) Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (“Mr. TF Lau”) is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.

4) Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is an employee of Kanamoto HK and Kanamoto

Japan, and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 14
December 2018.

The business address of our Directors and senior management is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

1 January 2010 Overseeing our financial
management and company
secretarial matters
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREIEE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding
our Directors. The functions and duties of the Board include convening
shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board’s work at these meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at these meetings, determining
business and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and for the
increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, the Board is
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Pong Sing 2385

Executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Lau, aged 64, was appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of
the Board on 11 June 2015 and concurrently serves as our chief executive
officer. Mr. Lau is primarily responsible for the Group's overall management
and business development, as well setting our business strategies,
direction and goals. Mr. Lau is also a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Lau is the chairman of our

Nomination Committee.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Mr. Lau had
accumulated over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry through his directorship in and management of Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited from September 1983 to March 1992 and
Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014. Mr. Lau
had in the past managed or oversight various aspects of the Group,
including business development and strategies, financial management and
management of training to be given to our employees. Under the
leadership of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, the Group has entered into strategic
partnership agreements with reputable construction equipment suppliers,
and participated in a number of landmark construction projects.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Kit Mui, Lina [R 21§

Executive Director and chief operating officer

Ms. Chan, aged 63, has been our executive Director since 11 June 2015 and
also serves as our chief operating officer. She is in charge of the Group’s
administration, financial control and human resources.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Ms. Chan has
acquired over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry. She was principally responsible for corporate reorganisation,
business management control, as well as setting up corporate
administration systems and finance systems, during her positions as deputy
managing director of Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited from
April 1989 to March 1992, and deputy managing director of Ajax Pong
(Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014.

Since joining the Group, she has worked closely with Mr. Lau to expand the
Group's business in Hong Kong and Macau and assisted in the set up of our
current operation system and staff welfare scheme.

Ms. Chan obtained a Secretarial Diploma from the Chinese Young Men’s
Christian Association of Hong Kong in May 1978 and an Intermediate Stage
Certificate in Book-keeping from the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry in Spring 1978. She also completed the Computerized Accounting
System for Commerce and Industry Training Course given by the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in October 1986.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.
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EENEREIEE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. NAKAZAWA Tomokatsu F}/2X 52

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (172 7., aged 48, is the Deputy General Manager
of Overseas Business Division of Kanamoto. He has over 22 years of relevant
working experience in Kanamoto and its subsidiaries (the “"Kanamoto
Group”), and is familiar with business operations, overseas business
development plan, and company policy of Kanamoto Group.

He graduated from Tohoku Gakuin University in Japan in 1996 and
obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Economics.

Mr. Nakazawa started to develop his career in construction machinery
business with Kanamoto immediately after his graduation. He was assigned
to Sendai Sales Branch responsible for all-round sales and marketing
activities of rental, leasing and sale of construction machineries and
equipment. He was then promoted to Chief and Deputy Associate Director
of Sendai Sales Branch in 1999 and 2001 respectively.

Since 2002, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to various branches and
divisions accountable for sales and marketing management, business
strategy planning, budget control, customer management and internal
management for construction machinery business of Kanamoto Group. He
was then transferred to Kyokuto Lease Co., Ltd. ("Kyokuto"), a subsidiary of
Kanamoto and was promoted to Managing Director & Sales General
Manager in 2008. His job duties included total management of Kyokuto
from internal management to business development. Since 2014, he has
been Deputy General Manager of Overseas Business Division responsible
for general management of overseas businesses of Kanamoto Group.

Throughout Mr. Nakazawa's long career in Kanamoto Group, he has been
engaging in the full spectrum of general management from business
management to internal management. Through such job duties, he
acquired a clear picture of the business operations, business network and
overseas business development plan. He is familiar with the business trend
of the industry and market trends of construction machinery in Asian
regions.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond fi[{& %

Independent non-executive Director

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, SBS, MBE, S.B. St. J,, JP, aged 82, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2016.
He is a member of our Audit Committee.

Dr. Ho has over 50 years of experience in civil, structural, environmental
and geotechnical engineering industries and has directly managed a
number of mega-sized engineering projects.

Dr. Ho received his degree of doctor of philosophy in Civil Engineering
from the City University of London in June 1971, an Honorary Doctor of
Laws from the University of Manchester in September 2001 and an
Honorary degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 1999. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1963 with a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering and obtained his diploma for advanced studies in engineering,
soil mechanics from the University of Manchester in July 1964.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond fAJ#& 2= (Continued)
Independent non-executive Director (Continued)

As at the date of the annual report, Dr. Ho served or is currently serving as

director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong:

Period

HiE

Office
B A&

169

BYFHITES(E)

EREL TR (E)

B HNTEE (K

RERAE  ABLERRERETHES L
RBAFMES

Listed public company on the Stock Exchange
B ETARAT

Since 16 June 2020
B 20206 A16 B

Since 18 February 2020
B202062 A 18 B

From September 2018
to 16 June 2020

B20185F9 AEZE
20205 6 A 16 Bk

Since December 2013

B 2013512 A

Since September 2007

B 2007 F9 A

From June 2005 to
3 June 2019

20056 A&
201966 A3 H

Since September 1993

B19934F9 AL

Independent non-executive director

BUIITES

Independent non-executive director

B IEITES
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

ETREFWITES

Independent non-executive director

BUIFATES

Independent non-executive director

BUIFATES

Independent non-executive director

BYFRITES

Independent non-executive director

BUIFRTES

Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368)
EEEEERERAE (RMHAIE : 368)

Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263)
EASRERERA [ (RMHRSE - 2263)

Veson Holdings Limited (Formerly known as
SCUD Group Limited) (stock code: 1399)
HEERARAR (FIBAREREEGRLAA)
(B 5% - 1399)

ChinLink International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 997)
e o BIR AR A R A &) (AR HL5% - 997)

GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800)

PRH 3 22 BETRIE LA BR 2 B (B9 FX5% + 3800)

China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3311)
TREZERREEAR QR (RO  3311)

Deson Development International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 262)
MR EREREEFRAR (RO : 262)

Other current appointments and offices of Dr. Ho are further set out below:

Current appointments and offices

B AT{Eds K%

8+ B BT E A E e R E —FHINNT
Honorary Chairman (since April 2019) and Chairman (from February 2005 to April
2019) of the Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and Ling Ao Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee
BRERGEZBUMRERZBURLEEANARZEGR
4 Aj8) REFE (200562 AZ 201964 )

BT E (820194

Professional advisor to the Office of the Ombudsman of Hong Kong (for the periods
1 July 1995 to 31 March 2013 and 1 October 2015 to present)

&E ﬁﬁi@%ﬁigﬁﬁﬂ(wsiﬂﬂ 1B ZE 201343 A 31 BHM & 2015

FI0RA1HES
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chak Yu #)2F

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Siu, BBS, JP, aged 60, was appointed as our independent non- executive
Director on 17 March 2016. He is a member of our Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Siu is the
chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Siu has gained experience in legal practice in Hong Kong. He obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1983 and July 1984, respectively. He
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1986, England and
Wales in June 1990, Australian Capital Territory in February 1991, and in
Singapore in September 1992; and as a barrister in Australia in February
1991. Mr. Siu was appointed as a Notary Public in April 1997, a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer in January 2000, and currently a partner of
Hastings & Co.

He is currently the chairman of the Environmental Impact Assessment
Appeal Board, the vice-chairman of the Estate Agents Authority and a
board member of the Guardianship Board.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREIEE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Ping Chi Z/R&

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 61, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
n 17 March 2016. He is a member of our Audit Committee, Remuneration

Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Li is the chairman of our Audit

Committee.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting and auditing. He was
an assistant assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department from
August 1982 to February 1985. He joined Touche Ross Hong Kong in March
1985 and was promoted to the position of audit manager in August 1989.
He later joined Deloitte China in April 1990 as a result of its merger with
Touche Ross Hong Kong and had been a partner from June 1996 to May
2013.

Mr. Li received a higher diploma in accountancy with distinction from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management members are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. None of the members of our
senior management has been a director of a public company the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. MITSUYA Shinji =& =

Director of AP Singapore

Mr. Mitsuya, aged 67, has been the consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, AP Rentals Limited, since 1st of January, 2017. In the wake of
establishment of a new company under the Group in Singapore, AP
Singapore, he was appointed and assigned as Director of AP Singapore on
3 March 2017.

Mr. Mitsuya's main roles are to launch an equipment rental business in
Singapore capitalizing the Group's experience and know-how as a solution
provider, to develop a new market in the South Pacific Ocean and to
establish a closer relationship and communications with Japanese partners
based on long term strategy.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Mr. MITSUYA Shinji = &5 =
Director of AP Singapore (Continued)

(Continued)

Prior to joining the Group, he has been in Europe from 2007 to 2012, three
years in Lyon, France and three years in Utrecht, Holland as a general
manager of local company of Furukawa Unic Corporation, establishing new
sales channels in EU countries.

He has been engaged in overseas marketing since early 1980th at
Hokuetsu Industries Co., Ltd., known as Airman air-compressor until 2006.

Having been working for a long time for Japanese construction machinery
manufacturers, he expanded sales opportunities through new dealers
including commencement of local production in the global market. He
obtained Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 1977.

Mr. LAU Tsz Fung (2| 7$%), aged 35, is our vice president and oversees the
sales and marketing department of the Company. He is principally
responsible for encouraging sustainable development through the delivery
of updated market analysis and information, and works closely with the
sales team in attracting potential customers and contracts. His roles and
duties include maintaining a high volume of rental transactions and good
relationships with worldwide manufacturers and suppliers. Mr. TF Lau has
completed training sessions on construction equipment given by
Donaldson Company, Inc., Nippon Sharyo, Ltd., Furukawa UNIC Corporation
and Denyo Co,, Ltd..

Mr. TF Lau received his Bachelor's degree in Business Economics from the
University of California Santa Barbara in September 2008. Prior to joining
the Group as a sales and marketing officer in April 2009, he was a marketing
officer assistant at Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 2008 to June
2008, where he was responsible for managing relationship with potential
customers and overseas buyers.

Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. WONG Cheuk Man (£ £8), aged 55, is the financial controller,
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for the Group’s accounting, internal
control, financial reporting, resource management and information
technology affairs.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Western Sydney Nepean with a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration in September 1999 and
obtained a Master's degree in International Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Wong has over 29 years of
experience in accounting. He was an assistant accountant at Sanyo Electric
(Hong Kong) Ltd. from July 1987 to April 1990, cost accountant and later
assistant finance manager of STD Holding Ltd. from August 1990 to
September 1994. He served as accounting manager and subsequently
financial controller of Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from September 1994
prior to joining the Group in January 2010.

Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Each of our senior management did not hold any other directorship in

listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this annual
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED
DEAHEERERAT
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AP Rentals
Holdings Limited (the “Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 85 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

REEEH

RRELFSFERRRERMANIERHE - REYHA
MG AR BREANEARREENTR - FLR
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and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate & °

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BARETSER

Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

R R EREE

We identified the impairment assessment of plant and
machinery as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying value of plant and machinery to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the judgements associated
with the assessment of the recoverable amount of plant and
machinery by the management of the Group.
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As disclosed in the note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying value of plant and machinery reported
under property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2021 was
HK$184,702,000. An impairment loss of HK$5,363,000 has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the current year.

AR AT R I RE 14 PR ER » PR2021 6F3 H31H » %%
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As detailed in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
the determination of the recoverable amounts of the assets is
based on the higher of:
BANERE B TS R MR 14 FrRFal - B B ] YR [El & 58 TH AR 55 A
TEENRSEEE

Value in use, based on the estimation on the future
profitability from leasing the assets, future utilisation and
future lease rates; and

ERARKREERGE I MG ERER - mMEREE
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Fair value less cost of disposal, based on the estimation
on resale values, with reference to the historical disposal
values and cost of disposal, or market transactions.
EREEBEEAERNAAERELEXNAN kAR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of plant and machinery included:

B EEE R MR EREETHEMERENRERFE
ECE

Obtaining an understanding of management's process
of reviewing and evaluating impairment assessment of
plant and equipment;

TRRERE R R R ER B R ER

2

Assessing the reasonableness of the management's key
assumptions used to estimate the value in use of the
plant and machinery by evaluating the estimated
future income generated from the assets with
reference to the confirmed leasing contracts; and

BESECHERBEL  FHEEEEENMB REK
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Assessing the reasonableness of the fair value less cost
of disposal estimated by the management by checking,
on a sample basis, to the recent disposal values, third
parties' quotations or transaction prices of similar assets

in the market.
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Key audit matters

HREETEE

Impairment assessment of lease receivables and trade
receivables

FEWiE B4R K B 5 RE Kk R el B P A

We identified impairment assessment of lease receivables and
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of
lease receivables and trade receivables to the Group's
consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgement and management estimates in evaluating
the expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group's lease
receivables and trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period.
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As at 31 March 2021, the Group's aggregate amounts of lease
receivables and trade receivables amounted to HK$36,650,000,
and out of which HK$29,037,000 were past due.

R2021 3 A31H - ESENEKEERIAERE 5 KA
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
lease receivables and trade receivables included:

BB WA B R IE R B 5 I W IR R B AT (4 BT B i A2
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Understanding how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for lease receivables and trade
receivables;

B RS TR B Al i 5T B WAH BRI )R B 5 FR KA
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Challenging management's basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2021, including
the reasonableness of management's grouping of lease
receivables and trade receivables into different
categories, and the basis of estimated loss rate applied
in each category (with reference to historical default
rates and forward-looking information);
EREEEEE TN 2021F3 A31 B EKEER
BRE 5 RYFIANEE BB R EHR A EER
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Key audit matters

HEETEE

As disclosed in notes 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of lease receivables and trade
receivables based on individual assessment or by grouping of
various debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal credit ratings of lease receivables and trade receivables,
ageing, repayment history and/or past due status and forward-
looking information of respective lease receivables and trade
receivables that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. Estimated losses are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the lease
receivables and trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-
looking information.

WMANERE M T4 R I0FTHETE - EEBEEEEREY
JEW A & FRIE N & 5 e SR IR P 1T RO [E B RF i - (AT IR
HERERE SRKAENEHERAEEHEDE  SHK
EREWAEFIARE ZREFIEN NS SR - R
BREER SRR A REFTFE TN ENE RN
BRI 15 1H R E W AR EFIA & B 5 R WA & 18 R B IR IR
RIS IEERHE - B EABRORERKR QB Z R REERFTETS
A o EHEE R IR EFIE K B 5 B WGRIE R T F
HANBESRINENERAESE - URAEEERED

As disclosed in notes 18 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's lifetime ECL on lease receivables and
trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK$10,799,000.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Checking calculation and basis of default rates adopted
by the management for the impairment assessment to
the underlying information used by management, on a
sample basis, with reference to the historical settlement
analysis of lease receivables and trade receivables; and
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Checking the information used by management for
developing the impairment assessment for lease
receivables and trade receivables, including aged
analysis as at 31 March 2021, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant sales invoices and other supporting
documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

RV SR e

HEERARKBELZSTERELTRER
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AT BREBEEER  ARKEAMBR
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B ESEEARERAXBEADNMBER
EEGtE LEENENERE  UEHEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EAVR R Gl =

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Cheung Chung Yin Lawrence.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ko Bty 2 T W 2%

Z/T\ Sl

nm

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes
iz

Revenue Wz 5

Goods and services G &R

Leasing of machinery THEH
Total revenue FELrE
Cost of sales and services SHE R ARTE AL A
Gross profit EH
Other income Ef it A 6
Other gains and losses HAhWas & EHE 7
Impairment loss recognised on property, B HERYIE - #a R B ERE

plant and equipment EiE 14
Reversal of (impairment losses) under RIFTEER = B S EE X ot e U A

expected credit loss model recognised  EFUE K& B 5 K FIERERH

on lease receivables and OREE1R) £ [0 %58

trade receivables, net 30
Administrative expenses TS
Selling and distribution expenses HE kD #HRAX
Finance costs BhE KR 8
Loss before tax KRB A& A
Income tax credit FriSTiE % 9
Loss for the year REEEE 10
Other comprehensive income (expense) AN EH i 2 EUE (FsZ)

for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ~ H &R B S B 218z EE -

to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on BN ETEE A BV IE = 4R

translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive expense for the year K% € & H X 4258
Loss per share — basic (HK cents) HRREE — ZEARGBL) 13

HZE2021F3831HILEFE

2021 2020
2021 & 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHET
46,577 44,096
101,873 101,691
148,450 145,787
(129,963) (129,697)
18,487 16,090
6,576 2,508
5,966 4,965
(5,363) (2,525)
1,516 (5,600)
(31,412) (34,845)
(483) (1,197)
(1,823) (1,202)
(6,536) (21,806)
852 2127
(5,684) (19,679)
1,062 1)
(4,622) (19,790)
(0.66) (2.28)
THAMEERAERAT - 2021 FER
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ARe MR

At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H

Notes
B aE

Non-current Assets FRENEE
Property, plant and equipment LER NG ] 14
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,  LUZBEYDZE - Hm K % &

plant and equipment B fRe 18
Rental deposits Heke 18
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy S {REFR 16
Deferred tax assets EETRIBEE 23
Current Assets REEE
Inventories FE 17
Trade and other receivables, E 5 R H M EWFRIE -

deposits and prepayments & RIEMNRIE 18
Pledged bank deposit BIRAIRITFK 19
Bank balances and cash RITHER R IR S 19
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables and B 5 I Fpth - 508 &

accrued charges FEEtEH 20
Contract liabilities EHBEE 21
Receipts in advance TEU AR
Tax liabilities HIBAE
Borrowings — due within one year Bk — —FREIF 22
Loans from a related company R E—EREH AR ZER 24
Lease liabilities HEAE 25

Net Current Assets

RBEEFE

Total Assets less Current Liabilities

HEERRBAE

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED + ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2021
2021 £
HK$’000

FE&xT

189,467
5,663

421
650
2,835
138

199,174

30,672

42,089
360
38,394

111,515

31,158
10,583
655
2,225
9,630
3,032
3,525

60,808

50,707

249,881

2020
2020 4F
HK$'000
FHET

234,643
7,224
421
650

2,760
123

245,821

25,311
43,462

360
29,955

99,088

37,335
13,233
412
74
23,164

2,907

77,125

21,963

267,784



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

sre WA ER

At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
B 5E THET FAT
Non-current Liabilities kRBERE
Trade payable 5N E 20 7,029 12,358
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 23 24,845 25,901
Loans from a related company. RE—HBEE AR ZER 24 = 4393
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 1,874 4377
33,748 47,029
Net Assets EEFE 216,133 220,755
Capital and Reserves EXRR#HE
Issued capital B ETIRA 26 864 864
Reserves & 215,269 219,891
Total Equity B 216,133 220,755

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 180 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2021 and are

signed on its behalf by:

LAU PONG SING
BIF K

Director

EE

HHNE S BEF 180 B Z iR A MG &R E 1 2021
FeoHoRAEEESHEREETE S 15
BEEREREE

CHAN KIT MUJ, LINA
RN

Director

EE

TREABBEERARAIT 2021 FFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—|I— N/
* / ~ II\EIII\ @J %

\\/—_I_\

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31HILEFE

Issued Share Merger Legal Translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BET
BE ROEE GOHREE ZERHE ELfE KEER st
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE FEx S TEr TEr FAET T
(Notefi)
(frzEi)  (RIEn)
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 818 864 232,345 (102,443) 12 (132) 109,899 240,545
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - (19,679) (19679)
Exchange differences arisingon & BINEFREER
translation of foreign operations & i, 258 - - - - (111) - )
Total comprehensive expense  RNEE 2R X B4
for the year - - - - (111 (19,679) (19,790)

At 31 March 2020 202043 A31H

FEREBR
BEBINEHELD

Loss for the year
Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations &} =%
Total comprehensive income TEEREKE (FX)
(expense) for the year ek

At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H

Notes:

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amount of share
capital and share premium of the Company issued, and the issued share
capital of AP Rentals Limited exchanged in connection with the group

reorganisation on 21 July 2015.

ii. In accordance with Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered in Macau is required to
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 25% as

232,345

232,345

legal reserve, until it reaches an amount equal to half of the capital.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

(102,443)

(102,443)

90,220

(5,684)

(5,684)

84,536

220,755

(5,684)

1,062

(4,622)

216,133

BHRFERAARESHTRASE RN EER

AR 2015F 7 A 21 H#EST

HEARARIDEITBRAZER

. AR HR B P RE BT T I S P K HR 58 377 4% -

i ERpEPN

&

SEEMAMmRIREBAEA

PORPIRE

AIZARES S HRT DR 25% 8%
FEBEEATHE BRI ESEREEERA—F



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2 A AN
;Z\v \l/:\fﬁi /1L

=R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

2021
20214
HK$'000
FET
Operating activities R
Loss before tax BR7A% A& 18 (6,536)
Adjustments for: HATEEEL AR -
Impairment loss recognised on property, BRI - &
plant and equipment REREEE 5,363
(Reversal of) impairment losses recognised on EREREREERERE S B
lease receivables and trade receivables, net IR ARS8 (B E]) 5 (1,516)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WIEE - M R R AR E 66,295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 3,027
Finance costs A& KA 1,823
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  H&E ¥ - #H X & UGS (5,385)
Interest income FEMA (100)
Write-down of inventories T &R -

Operating cash flows before movements

LERSEPINKERSRE

in working capital 62,971
Increase in inventories FEEMN (10,332)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables, 25 RHEMEKZIE « E2 K

deposits and prepayments TR IR A (38 h0) 2,889
Decrease in trade and other payables and B 5 Rk E A FE RIE R FERTE A

accrued charges N (3,719)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities ERAEORD) &M (2,721)
Increase (decrease) in receipts in advance TR FIE N Ol ) 242
Cash generated from operations LIBMSR® 49,330
Income tax refunded (paid) BERE (BR) AEH 1,936
Net cash from operating activities REEBMBRSTE 51,266
Investing activities REEE
Interest received BHFIE

Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of

a subsidiary (note 31)

B EDE - #R kR ERS

-yl =
BEMZE B REE (24,788)
HEZE - W R R EBTSRIE

10,093

WiE— BB ARIMEEZ RS
R (P EE31)

Net cash used in investing activities

REEBMAR S FHE (14,549)

DEAREERERAR

2020
2020 5
HK$'000
FAET

(21,806)

2,525

5,600
57,246
1,463
1,202
(5/435)
(243)
536

41,088
(13,713)

(2,369)
(15,165)

12,670
(117)

22,394
(569)

21,825

(421)
(50,663)

21,385

(17,000)

(46,552)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= /A AN =
%/T\I: E/Edi//lbi%

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

Financing activities

Interest paid

New borrowings raised

Repayments of borrowings

Repayments of loan from a related company
Repayments of lease liabilities

Repayment of trade payables

BMEEE

REDEIESE

F I fE R

BIRME R

BER B —FHEBRRZER
EBEEEAE
BIEE RN F0R

Net cash (used in) from financing activities

BMEEE (FTA) SR FE

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

BRERBRLSEYEMORD) FHE

Cash and cash equivalents at FORERASEEY
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HINGEE [ 3R B B 2 o2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FREERBELZEY

Analysis of the balances of REeRBEEEYERDN
cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR IR ®

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2021
2021 £
HK$’000

FE&xT

(1,646)
(13,534)
(1,554)
(3,565)
(7,787)

(28,086)

2020
2020 4F
HK$'000
FHET

(1,115)
46,656
(40,953)

(1,403)
(500)

2,685

(22,042)

29,955



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2015.
The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 8
April 2016. The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year
In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has applied the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on or
after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

—REH
DHEAHEZERERARTARAT DR
015F6cANBREFASHERARESR
Z+ =& (1961 FEIFOEN - BiRE RE
S ERSES MK AERRER AR
W= FSEM - AR ARG B 2016 4F
1R RERBMERHMAERRA R ([H
KA £ o AR R R E R &
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands * £
FEE MBS EENEEME 75 KR T
HEE —EE 8 1Z 806A E ©

KRR RBREERAF - MBLRAINER
EEHISEN L7 ©

e MBHRKRITIABT((Bx]) 25 - &
TLIRRARBINREER -

FERMET REEITERMBRESE
A (TEBMBREER])

RAFEEHERNRIETE B
WG ZER|

NAEE - ARG REK B R (FE 4
SEDBRESEVBEREERNERHRD
BEMAE ((EBETHAR]) Bl
20205 4 A1 Bz &R mEE MR
il A K B 3 25 B B 7 R A Bl AP R HE SR
BIFE L BT IEFT 2K K T 51 B 78 B 5 3R 25 ZE Rl
BHEETAS

BB L ERIE 1K &
BEEETERIE 8HAY
(E3EN

BIS RIS AR
R0 EIN

BB BREERNE 5
BB TERIE 395
N BB TSRS %A
FE7HRAETTA

EANER

XBHER

MR BN

RANFEERBE B EHREER B2
HEZR B F@ At B 15 5T A} 2 78 B %5 s o 22 R
MEFTAHARERAFERBEFEN
FBHRRRKBL, LR EERE M BRER
PREREV IR ISR EATE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’®
Reference to the Conceptual Framework*

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 22

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions'

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021°

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®
Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use*
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract*
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the deposit placed for a life
insurance policy that is measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment ("HKFRS 2"), leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases
("HKFRS 16"), and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technigue that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

3. =&

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

BRBROREEEREAS

FTBUR

3.1

REMBHRRNEREE

REMBHRDREEGAMAER
BB HHREEIRR - SRR
REMBHmAME - MERSERS
HEFEETREMREBHEHRIRE - Al
BRAERPRRER ° Iho  REM
BHRRBEBIAES LR RE
BRREPIRERNERREER -

RAEMBRRERELKAEER
2 ERBRAERBNFHROTX
P ek By & 5T BOR ATl i 18 i 5 A
AR IR AT ERTERIN o

JEE SE AR —FRE TN BRIV E ) B AR
M HRENRAE -

ARERNFTERRARTZ2EE L
FIEETTAVE PR 55 HE & E R WEL
HBEABAINNER - TwiE
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ENFTERHIREEXREEERAM
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B EERE 25 [ AR 7 BEREA
) ((BRMBHREENF25%])
HEEIAN AR BEENNHRZ S
BREBIMBREERE 1657 HE
((EEHBREERFE 1655 ) EE
ANHERZARERRBFE L
MUZREYFERAEDINEES
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HEMBBRRNEREEREAS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT HBUGR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1 SREMBHRRNEREE(B)
statements (Continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value SO - MM BWMEM S - AAERE
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on REAREFENBARBIBRR
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements ERASEFENBABIREHERE
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair WEEESERE R F_RXE
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as = FBEWT
follows:
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active . FE—RBABENERNGE
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity AHRBSHEREERAE
can access at the measurement date; RERMEHNRECRERH
)
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices c E_RBABEBIREESLR
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset EEEIEETEENE AR
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and B(E—RABENRER
AN R
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or c F-RBARBIEEXAR
liability. BRI S A B ©
The principal accounting policies are set out below. FESETEEREINDOT
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 BEAEREE
Basis of consolidation mEREE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial REMBRREBARARIA AT
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the RE KT~ R 6 2 B8 2 B B 9
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the = e %$ AR AATHEIE - I
Company: TS
has power over the investee; . HISEHRAIFEITRES
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its ¢ SRR EHRMESHARE
involvement with the investee; and BRI ERR &
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. c BRTEENAZEREDRZ
EEWAIC
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if %8 RAEI R £ ATl =T
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to REHEF—ARZENE  AAKE
one or more of the three elements of control listed above. SELRODAEHIREHR -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

HREMBBRRNEREERERE
TR (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 BEAEFHEEAE)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combination (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Tax ("HKAS 12") and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for which
(@) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. KEMBEBRRNGEREEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EPN-£i:6 {€)

Business combination (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred. The excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. KEMBEBRRNGEREEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EPN-£i:6 {€)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined using the first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all costs necessary to make the
sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEUBBRNGBREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
(if) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including rental deposits, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposit and bank balances) and
lease receivables which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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HZE2021F3831HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0]

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
except for those the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(if)

(iif)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, there is rebuttable
presumption that default does not occur later than
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or oss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped with reference to the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;
Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of lease
receivables and trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEUBBRNGBREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
borrowings and loans from a related company) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group'’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. KEMBEBRRNGEREEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EPN-£i:6 {€)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FHBCE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

BEAREFEEE)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation (including repair and maintenance services,
installation services and delivery services), the Group allocates
the transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a
customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

REMBBRRNEREERERS
AT R ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EAREHEBEXE)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFAaHWE (58)
Existence of significant financing component HFHEABEKS

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEUBBRNGBREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT HBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis

over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GKEUBBRNGBREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EAREHEBEXE)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFEREATAA ()
Refundable rental deposits AREIAEEE

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEUBBRNGBREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT HBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

REMBBRRNEREERERS
AT R ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EAREHEBEXE)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessor (Continued) KEFEZLAA (B)
Refundable rental deposits AREIAEEE

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are
deducted from the related expenses, other government grants
are presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

REMBBRRNEREERERS
AT R ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EPN-£i:6 {€)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEUBBRNGBREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT HBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-
use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. KEMBEBRRNGEREEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

BEAEFEEE)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF”
Scheme) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes, are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets within the next
financial year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and lease
receivables

Certain of trade receivables and lease receivables are assessed for
ECL individually. In addition, the Group determines the ECL for the
remaining trade receivables and lease receivables by grouping of
various debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal credit ratings of lease receivables and trade receivables,
ageing, repayment history and/or past due status and forward-
looking information of respective lease receivables and trade
receivables that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. Estimated losses are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the lease receivables
and trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
information. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

At 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of trade receivables and
lease receivables are HK$3,152,000 (2020: HKS$4,483,000) and
HK$33,498,000 (2020: HK$31,996,000), net of allowance for credit loss
of HK$179,000 (2020: HK$678,000) and HK$10,620,000 (2020:
HK$11,637,000) respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables and lease receivables are disclosed in note
30.

4.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NN e

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Revenue

5. WEkoIER
(@ Wz

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) FFEHNWRZNAIE

customers

Geographical markets 1325

Hong Kong BB

Macau B

People’s Republicof A EE AR AFE
China (PRC’) (rhEl)

Singapore GpIIE

Total Foh

Timingof revenue  WHEBRBH

recognition
A point in time KRR
Over time BE R R
Total EH

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Sales of
machinery
and parts
BHR
BHEE
HK$'000
TR

27,523

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BZ20153ANRALEFE

Lease
related  Repairand
operating maintenance Delivery Installation

services service service service Total
HHEER #ER
MRERYE  RERE  ORREE ZERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER TER TEx TER TAT

12,153

= 8
624 652

12,777 46,577




5.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Revenue (Continued)

(i

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

5. WHEERoHBER &)
Wi (8)
EEAHWENDE(E)

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

(i)

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

BZ00F3A31ALER
Lease
Sales of related Repairand
machinery operating  maintenance Delivery  Installation
and parts services service service service Total
KRk HEEEE BER
THEE MBRERE  RERE  ORERE RRRE @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

TET TET TET TET TET TET
Geographical markets 13235
Hong Kong BE 27,555 7430 2478 4417 843 492723
Macau B % - 49 308 = 381
PRC m 15 - - - - 15
Singapore K - 958 6 13 - 977
Total st 27,594 8,388 2533 4,738 843 44,09
Timing of revenue ~ WHBRABE

recognition
A point in time E-KHEEZ 27,5% - 2533 4738 = 34,865
Over time BRI RER - 8388 - - 843 9231
Total @t 27,594 8,388 2533 4,738 843 4409
TEBEELEREBAR « 2021 FER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NN e

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. W#HE D HER (4#)

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

contracts with customers disclosed in the segment

information with the total revenue of the Group.

(@) Wz

Lease related operating services

T E B R IRIERT &

and other services H b AR 75

Trading 25

Revenue from contracts with EDHHNEFEHWE
customers per segment

Leasing of machinery W E

Total revenue Fellg

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

(&)

BEFEENRENSE(E)

TREID
B # W am B
E\E ]

2021
2021
HK$°000
FHET

46,577
101,873

148,450

BERBBOEP
RSB U 35 0

2020
2020 5
HK$'000
T

16,502
27,594

44,096
101,691

145,787



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of machinery and parts

Revenue from sales of machinery and parts is from
contracts with customers and recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been accepted
by the customer. The customer has full discretion over
the usage of the goods, and has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
The normal credit term is 0 to 30 days upon invoice
issued.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when it signs the sale
and purchase agreement. The deposits will be
recognised as revenue when the customer obtains
control of the machinery.

All the sales of machinery and parts are completed
within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong
Kong and other geographical markets by sending
equipment operators to operate the equipment at the
job sites of its customers. Such services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days
upon invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related operating service
are one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

AR E
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5. RBERDIBER (5
(a) Wz (&)

(ii)

DEAEEERERAR
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R EMHIEE

R T HHENRERER
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PR R BB AERR o

W e 7 & o Y 12 il 4 2 B8 5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Lease related other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arise from
rental arrangements including repair, maintenance,
installation and delivery services. Revenue from delivery
is recognised when the goods have been delivered to
the customer’s specific location. Revenue from repair
and maintenance service are recognised when the
service rendered is completed. Revenue from
installation service is recognised over time because the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days upon
invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related other services are
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Leases

5.

W s K 7 BRE R ()

Wi (8)

(a)

For operating leases: MEEHEMS -
Lease payments that are fixed B HERK

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there is
no contingent rental recognised.
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(ii)

(iii)

BEFANNBERNERE(E)

BT E BRI E RN
AREBMEAMREKARE H
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ERIREE R F 5 E A 2R
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Rl 75 A9 Uk 2% & BRF ) e 2R
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FEHNEE - —REEHA
FAKZEROEAH HER
RS EREFE °
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S E A R R E A AR5 H) & A4
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SEAFE ISR - A
BERBEIEERZRATHAN
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bish=4
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
101,873 101,691
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. W#HRDHER (&)

(b) Segmentinformation (b) DEER
For management purpose, the Group is organised based on REEAH  AEBERAEEBKSHE
its business activities. The Group determines its operating o AEBIRNEXKERETHSE
segments based on these business activities that are reqularly BENE BEFEEARE (AR
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, i.e. the RITES) THER - UHRER
executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of PEREE S

resources allocation and performance assessment.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments BEms  A5E *Eﬁiffﬁﬁﬂ%iﬁi
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows: HERE (A& 55| A 2, K
KED T
Leasing — Leasing of machinery, repair and HE — HMWMHEE #ERKE
maintenance service, delivery service and ER%E - RZERS R
installation service 2 AR 7%
Trading —  Sales of machinery and parts BEE — BEBRTHHEE
Segment information about these reportable and operating BRLENE2EREEESITHDEE
segments is presented below: R TX25 :
Segment revenue and results D EBUN R R A
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 2021 F3 A31 HILFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE BB At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Revenue Wz
Segment revenue from REINBEFH
external customers PaR=il e 120,927 : 148,450
Results e
Segment results DEBEE
Unallocated income ADEUA 995
Unallocated expenses RABLFX (25,725)
Consolidated loss before tax RNEBE GRS BRTLAT
of the Group ] (6,536)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Segment information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020

5.

”ﬂ%‘é&’\ﬁﬂﬁﬂ(%ﬁ)

(b)

DEER (E)
PERE R EE ()
B E20204F3 A31 HIFFE

Leasing Trading Total
HE == #E
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHET T
Revenue W=
Segment revenue from R EINER P B B
external customers 118,193 27,594 145,787
Results X'
Segment results DEPELE 6,652 1,888 8,540
Unallocated income AU A 209
Unallocated expenses RABLF (30,555)
Consolidated loss before tax AEBRIZEBRTIREE
of the Group (21,806)
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating A 2R LA D B S ERR BB
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies SFFiAREEN S RERR DY
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit E L @D ST B EF - TR

earned by each segment without allocation of interest income
and certain sundry income, exchange gain or loss, and central
administration expenses. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions according
to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities are presented as the information is not
regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance.
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5.

Segment information (Continued)
Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2021

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHRIBER (8)

(b) ZEERE)
Hth 7 ER &

#F 202143 A 31 HIFFEE

Leasing Trading Unallocated
HE EE L
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TERT TET

Impairment loss recognised on ERRIE - BHR
property, plant and equipment HEREER

Total
st
HK$'000
THET

Reversal of impairment losses BRERERHERIER
recognised on lease receivablesand & 5 e IE R E
trade receivables, net EEALEE
Depreciation of property, MmE - ERESENE
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ FIEAEH &
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE « &
plant and equipment BEle
For the year ended 31 March 2020 B2 20203 A31 HIFFE
Leasing Trading  Unallocated Total
HE BE iy Bt
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT FTHExT FHET
Impairment loss recognised on ERRYE - BHR
property, plant and equipment HEREER 2525 - - 2,525
Impairment losses recognisedon BRI E A K
lease receivables and 2 5 EWGIERE
trade receivables, net [R5 5113 487 - 5,600
Depreciation of property, Mz - ERESENE
plant and equipment 55,854 12 1,380 57,246
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ (E B ETE 1382 = 81 1463
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - B K
plant and equipment M 5435 - - 5435

DEAREERERAR
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WEHBAHER (&)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZWERE)

Geographical information I &R
AEEFREINBRO KT ENTE
BEE RF FERFINEHE
B WEHEREEEIET -

The Group's revenue from external customers is mainly
derived from customers located in Hong Kong, Macau, the
PRC and Singapore, which is determined based on the
location of customers.

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

External revenue: SNERUG S
Hong Kong B8 140,184 134,927
Macau JBPY 5,842 8,516
PRC H 617 755
Singapore AN 1,807 1,589
148,450 145,787

The Group’s non-current assets based on the geographical
location of the group companies owning these assets are as

follows:

AEENFERBEE (REAULEFE
ENEBEQAMMEMECESD)H

FEnTE

2021 2020
2021 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Non-current assets: FEREBEE
Hong Kong B 179,719 210,549
Macau P 2,895 8,107
PRC S 9,370 18,095
Singapore #rhnsg 3,567 5,537
195,551 242288

M ERBEETEEESES SR
REGHBEERARE °

Note: Non-current assets excluded rental deposits, deposit placed for
a life insurance policy and deferred tax assets.
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5.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHRIBER (8)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DITER(E)
Information about major customers BBEXEREFHER
Revenue from customer during the year contributing over REFEREEBER R 0% P
10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: WasE 5T
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET THT
Customer A BEA 28,275 N/A (Note)
TE A (M)
Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the B - AR U 2S£ (h AN 2 B B R 25 R 1B
total revenue of the Group. 10% °
OTHER INCOME 6. HAWA
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Interest income from: MEWAKS :
— bank deposits — RITER 147
— deposit placed for a — SRREFRK
life insurance policy 96
Storage income BEERKA 1,712
Government grants (Note) AT 4 Bl (BT ) -
Sundry income ESAET PN 553
2,508
Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government grants to Mzt : RAREE - KB HE COVID-19 AH B8 1 Ab
HK$5,677,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies, of which R T ## B 5,677,000 7 7T » £ F1 5,198,000
HK$5,198,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by BB BBNIRERN R EZIEE -

the Hong Kong government.

TREABBEERARAIT 2021 FFH
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

Htl s R EE

2021
2021
HK$°000
FHBxT

581

5,385

5,966

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7.
Exchange gain (loss), net b H Was (E518) 558
Gain on disposal of property, HEWIZE - B &
plant and equipment Bl
8. FINANCE COSTS 8.

BME A

2021
2021 £
HK$’000
FHT

Interest on borrowings (note 22)
Interest on trade payables (note 20)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 25)
Imputed interest on loans from

a related company (note 24)

B A B (i EE22)

B Z S E A B (FiEE20)

AEaEH L (HiE25)

RE—HREARZ
BERAHEER S (HisE24)

734
657
255

177

1,823

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT FreHiER
2021 2020
20215 20205
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT T

Current tax; BIHARRH IR :

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBRFH -
Deferred tax (note 23) RIERIA (M 5E23) (2,127
(2,127)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the "Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2019 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2020.

For the subsidiary registered in Macau, Macau Complementary
Income Tax is calculated at 12% of the estimated assessable profit
exceeding MOP600,000 after the deduction of dividend paid for
both years. No provision for Macau Complementary Income Tax had
been made as it had no assessable profits for the current year.

20183218 - BAENLES @B 12017
FRE (B (FB75) BOIEZR] ([EHE
R])  ZIEHIERSIATFISTHRARS
ZIEH ERNK2019F3 A28B BB &
7 WRRBEFRTE - RBEMNEHMR
Rl EERERERENE2AEBTmN
1512 8.25% & Ht - MR 2 A & 74 7T 1)@ Al
BIZB3Z16.5% B o T A FIAS i 4% 1 &9
EE BN RN ASHEER 165% M5 — i
B -

RAREERE W BHEANSHMARSATS
NS HEBSRE VBRI EERBIE -
%z12021¢3ﬂ315¢¢F“E’J%‘/%7NJ S
R (b T FE R B s A1) 16.5% 51 8

HRAAREEREZ20200E3 431 BILEE
WEERF R A MARBTIRBEBHER
B -

AR EMARNHBARIME 2™
8 £F [Z 80 R PIFR 15 I TR RUIR PR B IR B AR
.1 18 38 600,000 38 P9 7T &9 fth 51 FE B 15 Vi A
B12%:TH - ERASEBRANFEILER
SRR A - SR FTIRIR P AT IS 1 T R 4
ﬁo
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

HZE2021F3831HILEE

For subsidiary registered in the PRC, under the Law of the PRC on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25%.

For the subsidiary registered in Singapore which is subject to
Singapore income tax at 17% (2020: 17%). No provision for Singapore
income tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for both

years.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled from the loss

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

FEHER (@)
HRPEFMEIOMHBARTES - R
hE AR E ([ REAERE]) ko
LFEREERIEE - hRWBARER
25% B 1> H RS -

R IN4E E A BB R B 7812 17%(20204F -
17%) BO T R BN FT I3 FT 1S RL - AR TERZ
M EFEHERRTEN - BURBFHEN
I FTS BERE o

AEERERESEGABREREMEE
Wk R AE R AT B IR BRI TS

Loss before tax

BRi AR 1R

Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5%

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdiction

Others

RBABE165%THHBIIA
TRMBAXOBRGEE

BERBRANRBZE

AERVGEIENREZE
RE M RDEE 85 [ 8 2 B B

RAMBEEZRNTE
Hity

Income tax credit for the year

AEEREHER

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(6,536) (21,806)
(1,078) (3,598)
739 866
(868) 24)
586 593
(174) (140)
(57) 176
(852) (2,127)
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HRR M

HZE2021F3831HILEFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

1“7]‘

For the year ended 31 March 2021

rEERBR

Loss for the year has been arrived
at after charging:

Auditor's remuneration
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Write-down of inventories

Staff costs:
Directors’ emoluments (note 11)
Other staff costs:
— Salaries, allowances and
other benefits
— Retirement benefits scheme
contributions

R TFIAE RHAFEEIE

ZEE B 2
RIFFX M FERA
W% BRERBITE

EREEENE
T B HUR

BT :
E=Me (1)
HA 8 TR :
—FE R REAMER

Total staff costs

&
S
H
S
M

2021
2021
HK$°000
FHBxT

DEAREERERAR

2020
2020 5
HK$'000
FHT

1,905
17,868

57,246
1,463
536

6,749

33,224

1,402

34,626

41,375

. 2021 FFER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Note: The Group has established the MPF Scheme for its Hong Kong

employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement
benefit scheme contributions recognised in profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5% of
each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000 (2020: HK$30,000) per month.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the Macau,
the PRC and Singapore are members of pension schemes operated
respective local governments. The subsidiary in Macau is required to
contribute MOP60 for every employee per month. The subsidiary in
the PRC is required to contribute a certain percentage ranging from
0.2% to 14% of the relevant cost of the payroll of these employees to
the pension schemes to fund the benefits for both years. The
subsidiary in Singapore is required to contribute 16% of the
employee’s monthly gross salary. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contribution under the schemes.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of HK$1,504,000
(2020: HKS$1,474,000), comprised HK$72,000 and HK$1,432,000 (2020:
HK$72,000 and HK$1,402,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff
costs respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to
the schemes by the Group in respect of the current year. At the end of
the reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.
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fE

AEBE AR BEERLBESTE - 5F
EMBENBYIEAEENESEA D
FIFHE - NBEMERA R KR 5T 851
BARE B S B P 30,0007 7T (2020 4F ¢
30,0007 7t ) & LR &I A B8 B % 5% 8 B 1+

LB o

AABIFERPT © A B R TIN5 A BB A R
NEEREEASENBNERNERS
FTEIKE - BPIMMBARZEASARE S
1B B HFR60RMIIT - REZMEFE - 7 EF
BB A RARRREFEELZERE
FRF SR AN T02% = 14% X EH D
LB R - ABRFIREES - F skt
BARZEMREE AFH RS IEL 6%
o AEEHBERKEFNFTENE—FF
RIRIRETEIME L PR AR

RENIBE IR 2K A4 EE 41,504,000 748
JC(20204F : 147400078 70) © BIED B &
72,0007 7T }2. 1,432,000 78 7T (2020 £ : 72,000
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1. B BSTRAEREEMS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the BERNRENRARESHMESFEET ¢

Company are as follows:

Other emoluments
Hin <
Basic
salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits contributions
EXHe -
EER RIRER
e HigF R
HKS$'000 HKS'000 KS'
T 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE202153A31H

LFE

Executive directors: WTES:

Lau Pong Sing 2Rk

Chan Kit Mui, Lina FRR1E
Non-executive director: FMITES -

Tomokatsu Nakazawa FERR
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES :

Li Ping Chi FIRE

Siu Chak Yu mET

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ202053H31H

LEE

Executive directors: HITES:

Lau Pong Sing 276k - 2776 36 2812

Chan Kit Mui, Lina f& 215 - 2,768 36 2,804
Non-executive director: FMITESE :

Tomokatsu Nakazawa RERR = - = =
Independent non-executive directors: BUFNTES :

Li Ping Chi EN T 252 - - 252

Siu Chak Yu 2T 252 - - 252

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fER 629 - - 629

1,133 5544 72 6,749
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\\/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2021

11.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Mr. Lau Pong Sing is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company. No emoluments were paid to the non-
executive directors for both years. The non-executive director waived
his emoluments in the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. There
was no other arrangement under which a director or the Chief
Executive of the Company waived or agreed to other waive any
remuneration for both years.

The Group has been providing accommodation, which is leased
from third party, to Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina for use by her and her
family members at no charge. The relevant short term lease expense
is HK$492,000 (2020: HK$484,000).

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year, two (2020: two) of them were directors of the Company,
whose emoluments are included in above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2020: three) individuals were as follows:

11.

EE BRETRASREEMS
()
BIMKEENRARRRDITRAR - L
XHBEBAWSBELERARSITRAR
RERBHMS -

FSTEENE EBHERETEARNAA
RAREEEHERERBER - LB 73
HNTEEWS EZHEARETARAIES
MR ER - ZMEFERERERTT
EELAE o IERMITE S HERZ 2021
FR2020F3 831 BIEFENFHH - AQ
AIESREETHAERZWEEE AL
ERESN R ERET M ST -

AEE—BELERERE=FHEANES -
LAHRZg 2 T R EKRREKEFER - HE
5 OE & R X A492,0007% 7T (2020 F -
484,000787T) °

REE AEBREREHALTME
(20205 : M%) RARAESE - HM2E

EAFE REUR
HAb a7

Discretionary bonus BEIEAL

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R {RIEFIEH 213k

Basic salaries and allowance
and other benefits

SFALEXA - B F=2(2020F : =%&) A
TS T

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

2,523

146

54

2,723
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND M. EX BEETHRAEREEME
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not directors of e nFRIEERERRRESREH
the Company whose remuneration within the following band is as BEHBWT :
follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T % 1,000,000 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 B 7T Z 1,500,000 7 7T =
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the RREFE  AEBWEAAQFESL
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors IEERFAL(BEEERES) X
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group & 1B £ N BB 7N 5% (B8] =X N BB e 1Y 5% /B i B
or as compensation for loss of office during both years. fifs -
12. DIVIDEND 12. BRE
No dividend were paid and proposed for the year ended 31 March HE2021F K2020F3A31HIEFE - I
2021 and 2020. BEEIREEKRE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ta PR

ARE TS Jat

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13.

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

BRER
ARARREEAEESRERBRDERT
SIS

2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiExT FAET

Loss for the year attributable to owners AR T E S E A EIBA AR 7

of the Company for the purpose of BB ANEEREEEE
basic loss per share

(5,684) (19,679)

'000
T

Number of shares ghar 24|
Number of ordinary shares for the BARETESREAREIERN
purpose of basic loss per share 3B IR AT EL

864,000 864,000

Note: The calculations of the basic loss per share for both years are based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company using the number of
shares in issue during the year.

No diluted loss per share is presented for both years as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B HRR M

HZE2021F3831HILEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plantand
machinery

HERRE
HKS'000
AT

CosT 2%
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1R 382,076
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EHERE

(note 31) (MizE31) 19914
Additions NE 68,844
Disposals HE (30,169)
Exchange realignment [ 5 AR (464)
At31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H 440,201
Additions NE 23,422
Transfer bty 2,782
Disposals HE (13,549)
Exchange realignment B i 9% 1,71
At31 March 2021 R0 E3A31R 454,567

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 47 % R BifE

At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 718 166,024
Provided for the year FEIRE 54,745
Impairment loss recognised B B2 HEAHY

in profit orloss HIEER 2525
Eliminated on disposals &R (14270)
Exchange realignment R (30)
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3 4318 208,994
Provided for the year EREIRR 64,186
Impairment loss recognised B RMBERERH

in profit or loss REER 5,363
Eliminated on disposals HERTH (8,960)
Exchange realignment B i 9% 282
At31 March 2021 R202163A31R 269,865
CARRYING VALUES REE
At31 March 2021 R202143A31R 184,702
At 31 March 2020 R2020E3A31H 231,207

l\\/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2021

14. Y¥ - WK% E

Furniture
Office and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Leasehold
fixtures improvements
HER HE
EE#E VA RE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

2897 431 5747 14,733
307 20 12 =
(31) (40) - (88)

14,645
65
2,189
(1,432)

2,060 245 4816 11,829
374 83 535 1,268
(10) (16) - (88)

13,009
1,304

(1,398)

12915

749 93 508 1636

IA
HKS'000
AT

1,685

450

407,569

19914
69,638
(30334)

(464)

466,323
24,788

482,707

186,323
57,46

2525
(14384)
(30)

189,467

234643
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

14.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking
into account the residual values:

15% to 30%
20%

Plant and machinery
Others

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out plant and machinery under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one month. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments. These machinery under
operating leases included within plant and machinery.

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group assessed and concluded if there was
indication for impairment by reference to the utilisation and income
generated from the plant and machinery in recent years, and
impairment assessment are conducted on recoverable amounts of
the plant and equipment with impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the plant and equipment are estimated individually.

The impairment amount has been recognised and such that the
carrying amount of each plant and machinery is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use and
zero. Value in use is based on the estimation on the future
profitability from leasing the assets, future utilisation and future lease
rates; and fair value less cost of disposal is based on the estimation
on resale values, with reference to the historical disposal values and
cost of disposal, or market transactions. The plant and equipment
was measured at fair value less cost of disposal based on level 2.
Based on the fair value less cost of disposal, an impairment of
HK$5,363,000 (2020: HK$2,525,000) has been recognised against the
carrying amount of plant and equipment.
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14.

Y3 - MWK RE ()
L% - R RREER B RABREE
BRABAEIL THIFRIFE

e M 2% 15% 2= 30%
EAh 20%
AEEAHBEA

AEBAREHET A HEE LR e

HME-RUVIRE—MEA FAEHREHT
S BAEMNR - BRAKEREOHN

BREEEREREA -

B
AEEERENEL G HER  2ROF
Hm R RENERBREAEERA - @
REBEDS - UEHERET RO X
R AR AT U B & B TR E R o AR
& AR AR B & BB R (R Bl A A o

MEZFECHER - ARSI REN R
EERHREERE RS ER SR

HEMEBERT=EPNERE ERE
BEERBEEEE  RARERBERRAKRE
EXRMARKRBMENEL AR MARE

ﬁﬁ’iﬁﬁizﬁ)}%ﬁf‘%ﬁj’i{ﬁﬁﬂ’lﬁéﬂ’ﬁﬁ
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAEEE
Leased
properties
HEW*
HK$'000
FHET
As at 31 March 2021 202153 H31H
Carrying amount BRTE(E 5,663
As at 31 March 2020 R202053A31H
Carrying amount IREE 7,224
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31HILLFE
Depreciation charge WESE 3,027
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZE2020F3A31HLEE
Depreciation charge hes 1,463
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases ERAREBBEENRS (2019F :
(2019: short-term leases and other leases 52 HRFE & M AE B 9146 FE AR
with lease terms end within 12 months of ~ HiBB ISR &R 1658
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16) & H #2128 B A4 R 89 E A
HE)
— in respect of rented premise — BEEHEERFT 4454
— in respect of machinery rentals — BRRmEE 18,823
Total cash outflow for leases HER SRR 23973
Additions to right-of-use assets FEREEENRE 8,687
For both years, the Group leases warehouses for its operations. Lease RZMEFE  AEEREEERERE -
contracts are entered into for fixed term of two to three years (2020: HEAHTIZEEME =FHI (2020F : W
two to three years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis E=F)F o HHE IR E R ERER - W
and contain different terms and conditions. In determining the lease A DRGSR o PO 2 M 5 R AT 4
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the TR HGH AR R R E - NEEEAS 4
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period HE S - EERRFIFITA LM ERE -

for which the contract is enforceable.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

16.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

DEPOSIT PLACED FOR A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY

SREREFK

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy

The Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) with an
insurance company to insure a director of the Company. Under the
Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the
Company and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,757,000).

At inception of the Policy, the Group is required to make a single
upfront payment of US$322,000 (equivalent to HK$2,497,000) which
includes a fixed policy premium charge and a deposit. Monthly
policy expense and insurance charges will be incurred over the
insurance period with reference to the terms set out in the Policy.
The insurance company will pay the Group a guaranteed interest
rate of 4.2% for the first year and a variable return per annum
afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest rate of 2%) during
the effective period of the Policy. The Group may request full
surrender of the Policy at any time and receive cash back based on
the value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is
determined by the gross premium paid plus accumulated interest
earned and minus the policy expense and insurance premium
charge. If such withdrawal is made between the first to eighteenth
policy year, a pre-determined specified surrender charge will be
imposed on the Group.

The directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
terminating the Policy during the first eighteen years was low and
the expected life of the life insurance policy remains unchanged
since its initial recognition. The policy premium, expense and
insurance charges are recognised in profit or loss and any fair value
changes of the deposit placed is recognised in profit or loss.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T T

2,835 2,760
AREBERRB ARG ABRRE(RE]) -

BARNE—HEBERR RERE 2%
ARREFHFABEAAGMERR M
AR BE 41,000,000 3 7T (FHEZE R 7,757,000 7
JC) °

RAMRER  AEBEAS [ —2BEN
322,000 7 (F8 % 1 2,497,000/8 7T) © £
BEEERERTR - FARBEL KRR
FHEEBENRR BN BREMBIGHE

o RBARBRAER S EFREH
R42%  WHRAEBRRBEENBFAFGF L

A& (RAERBN KD 2%) - AEEA]
BERS R FRRF - WWEBERRFRA
HREEERENREEBENRCERN
BUHBRREAXRREFEEMET) K
fiﬁ WRE—EF T+ NEREFE M
BF - ARESRHNAERRTEE -

ARAEER/RET\EREFEA
IEREATREMEIE - Bk 1%$E’ﬁﬁu+ﬁ
BHEEAERAEEFTE - RE  FAX
RRBRFEENIESER  MAFEFR
MER AR BRZB ISR o



17.

18.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B MR T

l\\/T\
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE
INVENTORIES 17. &8
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HKS'000
THET FET
Finished goods RUPK TR 30,672 25311
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 18. EFRHEMEWRIE REREAFN
AND PREPAYMENTS MIE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HKS'000
THET FHET
Lease receivables from: W TIALES
— outsiders — INRAL 42,436
— a subsidiary of a shareholder of —$Qﬁj—%%$5’\]
the Company IJEEIN = 768
— arelated company ——@& Bﬁﬂﬁﬁ@\ Al 212 429
Less: Allowance for credit losses B S EETERME (10,620) (11,637)
33,498 31,996
Trade receivables from contracts REBEA4H
with customers Z 5 RN GIE 5,161
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEERE (678)
4,483
Other receivables o FE U IR 50
Value added tax recoverable ] Y [B] 1% (5 5 1,169
Rental deposits paid BENHEeEE 1,052
Other deposits and prepayments H iz e KT FIE 5,783
44,533
Analysed as: PITR
Current TrEh 42,089 43,462
Non-current — deposits paid for ERE — WY
acquisition of property, TR K2 S A Y
plant and equipment BfiES 421
Non-current — rental deposits EmE —Heke 650
44,533
DEPAEIERBR AR « 2021 FFER



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
As at 1 April 2019, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$2,026,000.

The following is an aged analysis of lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

18. ESRHEHMEWKIE - ERFEF

FRIE (%)
R2019F4 818 BFENEENESE
W FRIE 5 2,026,000 78 TC °

UTARREHRIZEZAH25 R
MEFRIBALE ZRKFIA(EHRERERE
B RRER AT

2021 2020
2021 2020 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHEIT

Within 30 days 30BN

31 to 60 days 31HZE60H
61 to 90 days 61 HZ90H
91 to 180 days 91 HZE180H
Over 180 days B8 180 H

13,567 8,656
12,295 14,792
4,038 2,506
6,222 6,318
528 4,207

36,650 36,479

During both years, the normal credit term of the lease receivables is
0 to 30 days upon invoice issued and the normal credit term of the
trade receivables is 60 to 90 days upon invoice issued.

As at 31 March 2021, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$29,037,000 (2020: HK$28,552,000) which were past
due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances
as at 31 March 2021, HK$10,244,000 (2020: HK$9,320,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and are not considered as in default as
debtors normally will settle the outstanding balances after 90 days
overdue with reference to the debtors settlement pattern. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 30.
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REZMEFE  EREEFRENESEFEE
HAEHARZR0E30H MEBZENR
BEMEREERAL A%ER0EWA -

R2021F3 4318 AEEEKESFRIE

MESRERBEHBELAEREAAEAS
29,037,000 7T (2020 £F : 28,552,0007%8 7T ) Y
FEUBRFR - B RS HARE @ A - 742021
FIA3N B2 EEEHT 10,244,000 7T
(2020F : 9,320,000/ 7. ) E #1 HA90 H 5k A
FETEEAELN  BREKERETR —REE
BAO0 A2 2 ZB BRSNS MR 4EE
BELR AEBUARZEERITEE
ﬂﬁﬁuu °

B 5 K H B IB AR E A F B R
FEEE30 ©



NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED BANK 19. BITEHRES CTEFBITER

20.

DEPOSIT

At 31 March 2021, bank balances carry interest at market rates of
0.01% per annum (2020: 0.01% per annum).

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged

R2021F3 A31 8 @ SRITERIZMIHEF

F0.01% (20205 : FF|F0.01%) 518 °

RITHESBK R ERRITEROREFEFF

bank deposit are set out in note 30. TEER KT EE30 ©
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 20. EZRHMENRIEARESER
CHARGES
2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHT
Trade payables (Note a) B SR (Kista) 25,526 37,177
Accrued expenses (Note b) FERTR X (FiEDb) 10,468 9,560
Other payables (Note c) H AT 5B (T aE ) 2,193 2,956
38,187 49,693
Analysed as: DR
Current mE) 31,158 37,335
Non-current FERED
— trade payable to a shareholder — ERARAE—RRER
of the Company B 58 -
— trade payable to a subsidiary of — EBEARRAE—RRER
a shareholder of the Company B ARRE S KIE 12,358
38,187 49,693

DEAREERERAR
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“U§EJ

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(b)

As at 31 March 2021, included in trade payables is HK$14,438,000
payable to a shareholder of the Company (2020: HK$21,669,000
payable to a subsidiary of a shareholder of the Company). Except for a
trade payable of HK$14,438,000 (2020: HK$18,475,000) carrying on an
interest rate of 3.6% per annum and payable by 36 monthly
instalments from 25 March 2020, other trade payables are under
normal credit term granted by suppliers. The credit period on trade
payables is ranging from 0 to 180 days (2020: 0 to 180 days).

As at 31 March 2021, included in accrued expenses are mainly accrued
staff costs of HKS5,205,000 (2020: HKS5,047,000).

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, included in other payables are mainly
professional fee payable, insurance payable and other utility payable.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

200 ESREMENE
(&)
Bt -

(@)

31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days

Within 30 days 308 A
31260 H
61290 H
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H
180 days BiE 180 H

Over

XEREER

R2021F3A31 8 ' BEZEMNRIECTERE
R R A — % B’ 3R 5K T8 14,438,000 7 7T
(2020%F : BAADRR—ZREOKHBA
A)FRIE 21,669,000/ 7T) ° R —EFF| K5
3.6% 078 H 2020 6 3 A 25 B #£5 36 18 A f+
FREE 5 E S 5108 14,438,00078 7T (20204F :
18475000/%75)% - H A B 5 A RIE T
BHEERETH—REEHNR - BE5E
HHRENEESHN T 02180 H (20204 -
0E180H)

R2021 3318 ' BT ERERE
&1 B T ZR5,205,00078 7T (20204F © 5,047,000
AT °

2021 F % 20209F 3 A31 B - EMERFK
BXrERRERNEXER  BHREBRE
bR AR IMEE A o

TREIE S EMNRIBR RS ARIEZEER
HI 2 5IIEOBRER AT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
4,651 20,818
1,298 5,045
98 499
3,597 9,505
15,882 1,310
25,526 37,177
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. EHEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Relating to sales of machinery and parts B AR e - SHE FE R 10,583 13,233
As at 1 April 2019, contract liabilities amounted to HK$563,000. 20194818 + &HEER563 000787
The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value as AREBBERBEFP R E S xRt
deposits from customers when it signs that sale and purchase WELE HEER 0% ZE40%ERTT & © 7]
agreement. The deposits will be recognised as revenue when the & BN E P S HE N = 5 A 158 6l i
customer obtains control of the machinery and parts. HR A -
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRETEEROBAFZ DEEES L
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to BERBERZLVEGIBERITHROEE
performance obligation that were satisfied in prior periods. 187 -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Balance at the beginning of the year FHEREE 13,233 563
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of G NFERUA (REHETA
recognising revenue during the year that EHERB)BEHEYN
were included in the contract liabilities aERd
at the beginning of the year (13,233) (563)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of PR U BUAAR Iz Z - 84 & 19
receiving deposits in respect of sales of BSEHAHBEREM
machinery and parts 13,233
Balance at the end of the year FRERTE 13,233

TREABBEERARAIT 2021 FFH
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

22. BORROWINGS 22. &R

2021
2021 %
HK$'000
FHET
Secured borrowings BEMER 9,630
2021
20214
HK$’000
TFHExT

Carrying amounts of borrowings that BEARERKERIERHER

contain a repayment on demand (RREBEEETEY)M

clause (shown under current liabilities) BREENRZER HEAETET
and the maturity analysis based onthe B B HIFTERIEIR DT A -
scheduled repayment dates set out in

the loan agreements are:

Within one year —FRN
More than one year but not exceeding ~ ZR—%F  ENZHRMF
two years
More than two years but not exceeding ~ ZRAMF * BAZRRE
five years
9,630
Less: Amounts due within 12 months B RRBAEERE T2 12EAR
shown under current liabilities 2R (9,630)

Non-current liabilities EmEalE

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2020
2020 4F
HK$'000
T

23,164

2020
2020 4F
HK$'000
FHET

13,534

7,054

2,576

23,164

(23,164)



22.

23.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 March 2021, included in Group's borrowings of HK$9,630,000
(2020: HK$23,164,000) are fixed-rate borrowings carry interest
ranging from 2.05% to 3.61% (2020: ranging from 2.05% to 2.35%)
per annum.

The secured borrowings were secured by property, plant and
equipment, deposit placed for a life insurance policy and pledged
bank deposit as disclosed in note 34.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's general banking facilities
amounting to HK$43,911,000 (2020: HK$55,749,000) are secured by
unlimited corporate guarantee from the Company.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

AR TSR M 5t

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

. BER@E

MR2021F3 318 AEERNERTEIE
9,630,000 78 7T (2020 & : 23,164,000/ 7T ) BY
Bl E ARG - N T 2.05% F 3.61% (2020

B A

£ NTF205%F 2.35%) E KB o

BRI ERAM 34T B - B
R BREREFFAREEARTE
A

R2021FE3A31H  REEH—RIEITR
& 8 543,911,000 78 (2020 £F : 55,749,000
BIT) + AR RIERR H1 A Rl HEIREH R o

23, EEBRELEE 8E
MRGEEMBHRARNEYME @+ BTE
EHBEENRBEEWIKE - LT AR
ST = (B RIBAE D -

EETRIAEE
BELERIAR B

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

(138) (123)

24,845 25,901
24,707 25,778
TRAMEEREARAT - 2021 F5K
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NN e

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued) 23. EEBEBEEE BBW@)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
by the Group and movements thereon during both years:

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses

EBIENE BEER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT

At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 30277 (2,553)
Acquisition of a subsidiary 4z — it B A 7

(note 31) (FFsE31) 41 -
(Credit) charge to (Gt AER) BE%

profit or loss Mex (554) (1,568)
At 31 March 2020 R 202043 A31H 29,764 (4,121)
(Credit) charge to (Gt AB#%)BE=

profit or loss Mz (5,046) 4121

At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 24,718

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$9,637,000 (2020: HK$32,152,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
nil (2020: HK$24,976,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$9,637,000 (2020:
HK$7,176,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$2,613,000 (2020:
HK$517,000) that will expire by 5 years from the date of originating.
Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

VAT 7R &= [ 70 i i8] 6 2. A FERR ) 2 IR
ERBAE(BE) REES)

ECL Fair value
provision  adjustments Total
BAEE
EREA st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THEL T TAT

(967) - 26,757
- 1,107 1,148
161 (166) (2127)

25,778

(1,071)

24,707

RBERR AEEBARDAHREBEEE
9,637,000 7T (2020 £F : 32,152,0007% 7T ) A 4t
ARG YERBEEREZTET
(2020 F : 24,976,000/8 7T ) HERIEEF HE
EE o B REESATE AR AR s )+ dh 0 4 £
T #99,637,00078 7T (2020 £F : 7,176,000 7T )
WERIELEFIEEE © 2,613,000/ 70 (20204 :
517,000/ 7T ) K 5 18 B $E 1/ R FE R A B 18
EER  RER 2 BB FREH - HaF
TA 1B ] R Hp 4t e -



NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

24. LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY 24. RE—HBEBLIRZERK
The related company is a subsidiary of a shareholder. AR A—2RERA—HEME AR
As at 31 March 2021, loans from a related company are unsecured 202163 4318 RE —HBEE QR
and carried the effective interest rate of 4.06% per annum. Included ERAERR  mEEFEFE406%:T R -
in the carrying amounts of US$348,684, equivalent to approximately BRTAI{E 348,684 7T (FAERKI27 B &ETT)
HK$2.7 million (2020: US$337,794, equivalent to approximately (20204 : 337,794 L (FHER K26 B &S
HK$2.6 million) and US$38,760, equivalent to approximately HK$0.3 JL)) F38,760% T (FBE R K03 EEHIT)
million (2020: US$217,794, equivalent to approximately HK$1.7 (20204F : 217,794 (FHER K17 B BEA
million) are repayable in October 2021 and August 2021 respectively. J0)) 2RI 2021 10 AFN2021 F 8 AEHK -
The related company has common directors with the Company. B AREARNAGRFAES -
25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEAE
2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERE :
Within one year —FR 2,907
More than one year but not exceeding ~ ZR—%F - B TLZHRME
two years 2,892
More than two years but not exceeding ~ ZRRIE - ETNZREE
five years 1,485
7,284
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ 5 : 1218 B A2 HA4E Z #3418
12 months shown under (RRBEETHITR)
current liabilities (2,907)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& B A B R IR
12 months shown under (RIERBEETIITR)
non-current liabilities 4,377

SREBEEERERAT - 2021 445K 153



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

26.

SN E R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE
ISSUED CAPITAL 26. EEITRAE
Number of Share
shares capital
RO E [} N
HK$'000
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FIREE0.001 BTH LR
Authorised: JATE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and M2019F4 418 -
31 March 2021 20206F3 A31 B R
20213 A31H 10,000,000,000 10,000
Issued: BT :
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and R2019F4 818
31 March 2021 20203 A31 B &
20213 A31H 864,000,000 864

27.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme’) pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all
the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 17 March
2016. The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
eligible participants had made or may make to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors (“the
Board"’) may at its discretion grant options to eligible participants,
including: (i) any director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of any
trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser
of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.
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27.

R RBERTR
REBBRBEMBRENR2016F3H 178
MRS FRBEMRERENE
Bt e ([ REsT8l]) - BRI A
B& D SR EN T &l - SRSk A Bl 'S R T K B
HELxreeHASEELERNEGE
BB EE o
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AEEBEMES BB EHA %%J\
T BF #ER K2 ABAXRER
BESASERN LR/ Fopr 5 PNCTE T 3N
AIRMME AR (TBEAL]) ki) ARE
B{IEMNEE - EE FHA FEEXAL
=P e - R 5% ARERE IR
BB AT AR m AR EAEFERIA
Pt ERF REER S AT 2 EETEN
XFEA HARBEEMNES B8 - &
AABEAL TP fiERH KE-
/\%/\ EEF'?‘}ZEK’F]FTJZH?* AT EASE
BER



27.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company's share as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
must be a business day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average
closing price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's share on the date of grant.
The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme,
an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time
during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten
years from the date of grant of option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, there is no general requirement on
the minimum period for which an option must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However,
at the time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or
limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the
minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to 31 March 2021, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

27. LURGABERNLR @)

BREEETEMRONITEESHE
EFEEERBASEBEAN  EZEETE
ERATHEENGRSE  \RELBRE
BEAM(ZAVEARERR) BRI AT
BRERAMARBRDYETE : ()BF
REZRLARBRERNAEEXA
FEBE X P A 3RE R PTMA R B AR F 19
Wi B r 258 ¢ K (i) AR R BRI L B
HIWE(E - TTEEFAFLETHE -

KRBT SIMEE TRHRRT - AR
PriE A B B (AN B IR B A A
HIERT T 6) B REBEBERES S FR LB
B P A Y (R T TR RB A

RIBBRAERT S URAMAREBERE
Y % X2 HA ] 2 I AR A 8 A R T 381 RO 1R R AT
BRI ER R RIR B RN —RARE °
A - EFEARRDEABRERZE
AERE LA REERE  AETHRIK
- RHERR (B (BETRY) ZFHE
EENREBRNBEEARABRENR
R K REEBHRR B RERE) -

BB R S5 B HA#E = 2021 63 A 31
HiF WEREBERETISREXREER
R AR o

DRBHEERBRAR « 2021 FER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE SRR M At

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

28. ARATMBEMRRRRAEDAIHEME

2021
2021
HK$°000
FHET

138,135
52,321
23,481

213,937

210
19,272
11,539

4,200

35,221

Non-current Assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RH B R EIILE
Loans to a subsidiary BT B A
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L T /B A B FRIE
Current Assets MENEE
Prepayments TR FIA

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE R T /BB A B FE
Loans to a subsidiary BERT—HEH B AT
Bank balances and cash RITHEBER S
Current Liability REBE

Other payables and accrued charges

H At JE S 50R & 5T B A

2,016

33,205

247,142

864
246,278

Net Current Assets REEEFE
Net Assets EEFRE
Capital and Reserves EAXR#E
Issued capital BEITIRA
Reserves i

Total Equity R

247,142
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2020
20204
HK$'000
FAET

138,135
39,615
32,506

210,256

211
21,527
8,049
4,297

34,084

1,964

32,120

242,376

864
241,512

242,376



28.

29.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

The followings are the movements of the Company's reserves for
both years:

28. AR BRARRARD A FEBE
()

TEHFIMEEE AR R ELS -

Share Retained

premium profits Total

% 105 8 REB R st

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T FHIT

At 1 April 2019 20194 81 H 232,345 6,581 238926
Profit and total comprehensive  ZREE % F & 2 E IS

income for the year 1% = 2,586 2,586

At 31 March 2020 202093 A 31 H 232,345 9,167 241,512
Profit and total comprehensive REE AR E2mEK S

income for the year ks - 4,766 4,766

At 31 March 2021 M2021F3 A31H 232,345 13,933 246,278

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include borrowings, loans from a related company, lease liabilities
and cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
management uses short-term funding to finance its daily operation
to minimise finance costs. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues or repayment of
existing debt.

29. EXEABRER
AEBEBEEAUBRRAEENETE
A EA S R BELE R
& AREFREALR - FR - K&
BRI — BT o

AEENEARBERREERFR BT E
EES  RE—RBEBIARZER HE
BE MRASFASFEMURERRHE
BARGELS (BEEETRARRER)

ARBEZTEHRITERRRE - FRLLR

AR —#D EFEREAKAREER

EXREENRR EEEEREHESE

NEAFEES UKAREMEERENX

e REBEEFEZ AREBERBINTRK

BRETHROAEEREGEH FEHEER
BENRE -

SRAREERERAT - 2021 £ 157
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\\/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

30. €@ T H

Categories of financial instruments a.
Financial assets SREE

FVTPL mBBRIE A AR
Amortised cost B SR A

Financial liabilities SRIEE

Amortised cost BESHAAR

Lease liabilities HEAE

Financial risk management objectives and policies b.

The major financial instruments of the Group include deposit
placed for a life insurance policy, trade and other receivables,
lease receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, borrowings, loans from a
related company and lease liabilities. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
currencies which are different from the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if
necessary.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

SRTEER

2021 2020

20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

2,835 2,760

76,152 67,896
40,381 67,690

5,399 7,284

cRIEBEEERERBX

AEENEZCR T ARESRIRE
Tk~ B5 REMEKFIR - EUHE
ER0A - BHEMRITER - RITER
k#Be BHREMEMNKE . &
F o RE—MEBARZERREE
BE - HESRT EEFNRRES

fEmm Rk (B E R R F =)
FEERKRXREE € RAR - BREME

BRI ERBRABEREN T X - B
EBEERERLERE © ARERME
MERETEE R

™% R
B E R
REEETRZAEHREEERNT
BEEBUIMEEHE - Rt A%KE
EERSNE e o NS E B AT BN
EWMBOR - Al BIEEERIMNER
b o WA R E EEIHEAIN
= o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the respective
group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Japanese Yen (“JPY’) HE(TBEE] AT
against HKS

United States dollars ("US$”) Ex((Ex])EAT
against HKS

Euro ("EUR") against HK$ BT ([@oTl) BT

HKS against Singapore dollars 3 7T 3 T A3 7T
('SGS$") ([ x])

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 5%
increase and decrease in foreign currencies against the
relevant functional currencies of the respective group entities.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where the relevant
currencies strengthen 5% against HKS. For a 5% weakening of
the relevant currencies against the relevant functional
currencies of the respective group entities, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax loss.

AR TSR M 5t

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

30. €@ I A ®)
b. “REMEBEEEREEE)

i EE ()
B (8)
RBEHR - EREEBUINEE
MEREERERABREENT

Liabilities

&f&

Assets

BE

2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 20204 20215 2020 £
HK$’000 (TS0  HK$000 HK$'000
T FET FRT FET

BURE DT

TRAVNASEHEEEERINEL
BN EEER LT K T 5%H)
BRE 5% RAEAETEEERE A
%iﬁ%&l\ﬁ@ﬂ[ﬂ HTFEFHE’J@(“ Bt

%o@@&nﬁ@@%%ﬁm,iu
KREBINETENEBIER @ WLE
3 ) 506 1ERE W F R o T XA IEEK
,,,,, BEREHAEE S B ITHER EF 5%
KR8 B RELIE - (WERBEB H S5
EEENEEEEBRESK T’
5% BEBEBEEXNESEER
of-Z-40

TREABBEERARAIT 2021 FFH
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\‘/T\

B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

JPY against HK$S HE X BT
EUR against HK$ BT R BT
HKS against SGS$ V5 T 5 BT NS T

For the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in USS,
since HKS is currently pegged to USS, the management
considers that the exchange rate fluctuation is not significant.
Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity analysis is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the USS.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to pledged bank deposit, fixed rate trade payables,
borrowings, loans from a related company and lease liabilities.
The management will take appropriate measures to manage
interest rate exposure if interest rate fluctuates significantly.
The management considers the fair value interest rate risk to
the Group is insignificant.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging
contracts or any other interest rate related derivative financial
instruments. However, management monitors the Group's
related interest rate exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure when the need
arises.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

30. €@ T H(®)

THEREEREREEE)

miEEkE (8)
B (8)
BURE DT (&)

2021 2020
2021 2020 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT F&TT

(57) 117
4 (6)
37 27

HAETHENEBEERAREM
= AREIC B ATEZE T EME - B

EBRAEEEEWTEX - BT E
ETRER A IS HRER P TR INE 8K
RRE DT

T = 2
AEEREHEDERBITER
NERZENFR - B35 KE— F'EJ
BMEARZERNEEABEEHNR
AENRREE o HFIEKBRE - &
EESFRIEEREEEMERR
EEERRASENAEN AR
EAEK e

RSB AT S A R E A DK
EMEMERNRBENITES R T
B A EREBREEREARERN
ZiREERR - YRR BHFERZ Y
HREANERER



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis on deposit placed for a life insurance policy
and bank balances is not presented as the management of the
Group considers that the Group's exposure to interest rate
fluctuation is insignificant.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the interest rate risk inherent in the
financial assets and financial liabilities as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to deposit placed for a life insurance
policy, trade and other receivables, lease receivables, pledged
bank deposit and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

wqiﬁﬂ

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B M SR

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

30. €@ T HE®\)

b.

THEREEREREEE
miEEkE (E)

F=m g (8)

BURRE AT
HRAEEERER RN EEHN X
RENRBIMT R E - IS

BAREFRLRITERNOBERED
il

ERERR  GREIITARERR
EREERERBENRENXE
B - B RO LR 3 R R BR B M8 2
MHE g o

EEREKRE
FEERBEASENRZEHFREL
EELEOMERASENBEER
@F AEENEERRAEEES
BARERBATR - ESREM
E% RIB - [EWFE R - EEIFE
TR RRITLES - REBRIFEE
AR s E IS S AR E e
BMEENEERR -

DRBHEERBRAR « 2021 FER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit grading system to
assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and grading attributed to
customers are reviewed each year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of lease
receivables and trade receivables based on individual
assessment whereas the remaining balance are assessed by
grouping of various debtors that have similar risk exposure,
after considering internal credit ratings of lease receivables
and trade receivables, ageing, repayment history and/or past
due status and forward-looking information of respective lease
receivables and trade receivables that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. Estimated
losses are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the lease receivables and trade receivables
and are adjusted for forward-looking information. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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30. €@ T H(®)

b.

SRIEABEEERERBE(E)
FERBRRRERE(E)
KEEFEKIE SRR REK
HENE
AEEREEERR AEEEERE
EXREGAEEEEEREREE
EHt - EERMNEAFELA - AEH
ERABEENHEFEEERR
MEEEEYRERFPHNEERHE -
EFEERENSIBFHEEM -
HALBSAEIZF IRE HI5E - ARELRBRER
RETHREBEREY - B A%
EERERBEASEKEESRALES
FEWRIBPET TRV E BIRF G - (A5
WHE TR R E 5 R KIAN 2 BT
HEEERES®E MR TERREE
B AR E SRR K B B R A
S ERTAR - BREG - BREHK
BEMARAREZTNEBEZERARS
HEIR SRR RRESARE S
FEM IR & 72 Ko A SR A R 1 B Y
& - SAEBEURRR QK Z AR
FRFGETT D AT © fAEHEIR TR
TJ%E’%HSZ?H%‘%’KIE&T%FEHSZ*KIEE‘EEQ
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Rental deposits and other receivables

For rental deposits and other receivables, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables and rental deposits were insignificant and thus no
loss allowance was recognised.

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the
counterparties are banks and an insurance company with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for deposit placed for a life
insurance policy, pledged bank deposit and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based on deposit
placed for a life insurance policy, the average loss rates, the
12m ECL on pledged bank deposit and bank balances are
considered to be insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 94%
(2020: 83%) of the lease receivables and trade receivables as at
31 March 2021.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 18% (2020: 10%)
and 39% (2020: 27%) of the lease receivables and trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the industry of
the property and infrastructure construction.

AR E

B M HmR T

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

SWMIA@E
b. EREMEEBERBEE)

EERERRE S (E)

& 1ZE R M BRI
HESES REMERFIENS @ A
ARAIEERELEELH  BEL
B AENEEMEUHER RAEE
RIRTRE & R/ T E @B o A
ARIEZHEEEBRERAREHAS
BEREERBRIEBEEEN - MAS
EREE2EAEREEEE 2R
B & 220214 &202063 HA31H
LEFE - AEBEF A E M ERFIER
BHEEEE MASRET IS
X At REREAEBEES

nBEHEERRBRER - RASY
FH LR EEFREERETEBR
SEEFRMRITRRRAT - RE
B 2Z 5 @E L ERINHMEE TR
HEEHHEEEENRERNELY
BREEER - AeHbSRRERR
WER - EEIRIRITERZIRTTA

E’MMH%E,HM?E}%TEWETEW&R

RERMHFR - FHEEEX - 121
AEMEERE  BEMRRTHERR

RITHEBRPRRBALTERX ©
AEBRETREEFRRITOREY
EeAEEETRR -

RNEBIZMIBE E D HNEER
ZERERB - 1§2021F3 A31 EW

WA & 58 & B 5 WK IE 94%(2020
£F 1 83%) °
AEENEERBREY FRRERK

T EFRIAR) 18% (2020 4F : 10%) & B
5 & WL SR IE #9 39% (2020 F = 27%) b
EWAEEZAEF RAREF KR
B ZERFPREVERERERT
% °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

HZE2021F3831HILEE

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit

30. €@ T H(®)

b. S@EiE

EEERRBEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)

AEERABEERBRFFLETHRT

Ml BREATHER :

Trade receivables/

grading Description lease receivables Other financial assets
ESRKRE
R EERTR AE FE i B RIR HiteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settles after due date not credit-impaired
VE S HAEHNERE  BREREEBARKEN ZHEHMEEERE — NEREHEESRE
W ERIE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
RER BREAMISBIRSHNESR - BNTHER 2URBEEER— ZHEHEEFE—
PAIRIEE R AR N W EEERE W EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B BRBRREEREERE FHEHEEFE — 2HRHAGEEE—
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
ik BREBEBRNMESARNRENBAS  mA%  SEDME SFRE M

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

ERR A BRI R
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HIEFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €RTARE®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMREEBRBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R RFEEFME (8)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFMBAAEETHOAEE SR
financial assets under the Group’s assessment, which are BEFERARAE(XEHEEER
subject to ECL assessment: FHEARIR)

External Internal

credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
R2EARHEEHERN2H
HBEETR ABEETR HAEGEER EEAE

HK$'000  HK$'000
TER  TER

Financial assets at FVTPL

BRRERANBIIRNEMERE

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy

SREEFN

Financial assets at amortised cost

RBHERATIGENERMERE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

BHRWFIE — WA T HHE § (M) 2HASBFEER (YEFERHE)
Loss Credit-impaired
BE FERE

Lease receivables (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

YR EF0E i (M) 2HRAFEER (YEFEHE)
Loss Credit-impaired
BER FERE

Rental deposits Low risk 12m ECL

ke j 1R R 12ERRREEESR

Other receivables Low risk 12m ECL

Hity R i EER 128 A AHEEEE

Pledge bank deposit Low risk 12m ECL

BEERRITER R Rk 1R2EARLREEER

Bank balances A2 or above Low risk 12m ECL

RITAER LVED S BB 12EARREEESR

TRAREERERAT - 2021 5% 165
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. EMIE@®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2REAKREEBEERBEEE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEREKRE S (E)
External Internal
2020 Notes  credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
|  EARBEESASEY
20206 fis AMBEETR ANEETR EHEEER RE#E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Financial assets at FVTPL
BREZRAAEIRNERER
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy 16 AA N/A N/A 2,760 2,760
SRREFR NiEA NEH
Financial assets at amortised cost
ERERANBNLREE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 4911
BHRRFIE — B R T HE Gyl (BzE) 2 HEHEESE(LEEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 250 5161
B EERA
Leases receivables 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 35,951
e E500R @R i) 2 HEHEEEE L EEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 7,682 43633
R EERE
Rental deposits 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 1,052 1,052
ik X ren A EER REABREEER
Other receivables 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 50 50
HibfEUesRIE A el REABHERER
Pledge bank deposit 19 AA or above Low risk 12m ECL 360 360
BHEARITER AASEIA | KRR REAEREEER
Bank balances 19 AA or above Low risk 12m ECL 29,901 29,901
RITEER AASKIA | EER REABHEEER
Note: 5T
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach MESERBFKENS AEBEEERES
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for B 5 S 2E RIS o SR IE TN AL A K UAGH 2
debtors that are assessed individually, the Group determines the ECL REHEREEBRENBEREES - KRE
on these items by grouping these items by similar risk exposure, after RIETE BB A - A& BIE B E AR
considering ageing, repayment history, and/or past due status. B BREER SaBRn - S AEAER
PR AT HH - LEEABEEE D
BHEEESE -
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit TRIBHAREKIAES IE&E%TEHSZTA
risk for lease receivables and trade receivables which are assessed HHEERRBOMNES  GRESER
based on the collective assessment as at 31 March 2021 by lifetime 202143 H318 E’]%HH?EHHFEJ%?E(I
ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with gross carrying HK$19,079,000 EIEERE) ETR BT - R20214F3
(2020: HK$7,932,000) respectively as at 31 March 2021 were assessed A318 @ BRE2E 5 Bl A 1907900078 7T
individually. (20204F : 7,932,000 74 7T, ) JiE Wt AR S0 {1 1

ik o
AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED «  ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount for balances

Average
Internal credit grading loss rate

Py EB R TR FHRRE

2021
2021 &
Low risk
1K [ g
Doubitful
RER

2020

2020 &

Low risk 8%
1B R B

Doubtful 23%
PN =

A MR M A

30. E@MTIAE @)
b. ¢REMEBEBERBEE)

EERBRKRERE(E)

ER R A AR AR AR

Trade
receivables
from sales of
machinery
and parts
REHERR
ZHHEN
B2 RWFEIE
HK$'000
TAT

4,845

66

Lease
receivables

FE WA B IA
HK$'000
TR

24,021

11,930

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

#st
HK$'000
FTHAT

28,866

11,996

4911

35,951

40,862

DEAREERERAR

. 2021 FFER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\‘/—.l_\ =

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for lease receivables and trade
receivables under the simplified approach.

30. SRITE %)
b.

THEREEREREEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)

ERER AR EI AR AR (%)
EETBRXRBEAEERIMNELHX
BB AR R TR FHIAET - WRIE
EFNHEZERRBNEAESH
AIEEERLETRE - DARBNAE
I8 & B et - AREIRA RS TE B IR
RRAHIARRI BRI T R -

TRETHEKASTENE FRK
IR BB N ERN 2 HFEH(E
EEREE -

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
ZHITEH
FEER

(AEE|EE

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)

EHEMEE
BR(EE

RLAE)
HK$'000
TR

RLE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAET

At 1 April 2019 R2019% 4 A1 H 4,595 2,120 6,715
Transfer to credit-impaired HEZEERE (1,190) 1,190

Impairment losses reversed B EREEE (1,962) (626) (2,588)
New financial assets originated ~ ¥iE2 &R EE 3,574 4614 8,188

At 31 March 2020 MR2020%3 A31H 5,017 7,298 12,315
Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERE (2,616) 2,616 =
Impairment losses reversed B EREEE (1,357) (2,038) (3,395)
New financial assets originated ~ ¥ REE 1,775 104 1,879

At 31 March 2021 R20219F3 A31H

2,819

7,980 10,799
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. £@THE @)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. SREAKREEBERBEEE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERERRE S (E)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables and lease B 5 FE W IA I e Wi A & R I S 18
receivables are mainly due to: HEBHEEHRR :

Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL

ZHFEHEEEEIL M ORL)
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
I (S ERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FA&T

2021 2021 5
Trade debtors with a gross amount of ERE 5 ERZBEREE
HK$47,449,000 recognised allowance #8{E 47,449,000 % TTHY & 5 FE W AR X

for trade receivables 1,775 104
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a 4555 & [ 4218 3,395,000 5 7T £

gross carrying amount of HK$3,395000 & 5 EUKERZX (1,357) (2,038)
2020 2020 &

Trade debtors with a gross amountof B 5t 2 5 FEUGERIERER
HK$48,794,000 recognised allowance J2¢ AR TH] 42 {5 48,794,000 P TT Y

for trade receivables B 5 REUWER R 3574 A
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a 4555 B [ 42& 2,588,000 5 T £
gross carrying amount of HK$2,588000 & 5 FEUKERZX (1,962) (626)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\VT\ =

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations of
the Group, and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

30. R I A%

On

demand or
less than

1year

PIME

TRL

7,787
13,281
9,630
3,100

Liquidity risk analysis
Weighted
average
interest rate
it} RER
TR
% HK$'000
%
31 March 2021 2021538310
Non-derivative financial iabilities ~ FEfT4 S @B E
Trade and other payables B o REMEMNE
— interest-bearing —itR
— non-interest bearing —%E
Borrowings &
Loans from a related company RE—BEBARZER
Other item HiIRE
Lease liabilities HERRE
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3,640

37,438

b.

1to 2 years

12
HK$'000
TET

THEREEREREEE)

REBE SR

HRBESRBNERNS - AEEH
B R M HE EEEJEW%EZ’JE’Jiﬁi&
ReZBYWKTUAREEN L ER
HES WRIEREMEBHTE o

TRFFASEETESRHBENL
TAHEEA - BRZIBEAEREA
WERIANERAHSHEBENER
BRI S RATRE - BBEME - 548
BEREREFERNERBRERER
RIRFEZERIA - TamiRiT B Z KAl B
BIBTHERESOER - HMIETES
REENIHBEURTERBHARE
# o

ﬂ/bs‘!fﬁﬁ_ﬂi ﬁﬁf

Total

More than undiscounted Carrying

cash flows amounts
RAERRS
HK$'000

TR

2years

BR2E
HK$'000
T

REE
HK$'000
TERT

14,925
13,281
9,630
3,100

14,438
13,281
9,630
3,032

5,530 5,399

46,466 45,780




NOTES TO CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. @RITE®)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2HMEMBTEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRERE(E)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) B E L ER ST (4E)
On
Weighted demand or Total
average less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1102 years 2 years cash flows amounts
e RER AUERBESE
7= PR 1-2%F SRE mERE REE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% B TR TR TEL TEL
31 March 2020 202063 A31H
Non-derivative financial iabilities ~ FEfT4 2 BB &
Trade and other payables 85 RAMEMNE
— interest-bearing —&R 360 6,662 6,662 6,107 19431 18475
— non-interest bearing —%E - 21,658 - - 21,658 21,658
Borrowings e 214 23,164 = = 23,164 23,164
Loans from a related company RE-HEHARZER 406 - 4,654 - 4,654 4393
Other item HitER
Lease liabilities HEAR 39 3123 2995 1,500 7618 7,284
54,607 14311 7,607 76,525 74974

The Group's borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “On demand or less than 1 year” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2021, the carrying
amounts of these borrowings amounted to HK$9,630,000

(2020: HK$23,164,000).

FME BB D [RE kDR 14F ]
R BEAEEEEAKREX
BIUETRETR - B20219F3H318
it & {8 3 M BR T 8 49,630,000 7T
(2020 % : 23,164,000787T) °

DEAEEERERAR

.+ 2021 FFEFH
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I@F

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
directors do not believe that it is probable that the
counterparties will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that
such borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
details of which are set out in the table below:

30. SRITE %)

b.

THEREEREREEE)

RBESRER(E)

B E LR (B)
REBAEEMBEMNE  EFHE
RHHIPRAREITRRENBIEEE
SRENR &K o é%*HTZEZ%fﬁ%HﬂE
BERIpHPTETRATE R A MEE -
BRAFRENTX

Maturity Analysis — Borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

AMELN — FHERERERKR

Less than
one year

DR1E
HK$'000
FAT

31 March 2021 20213 A31 8 7,293

31 March 2020 202063 A31RH 14,236

i3 SEH)

1to 2 years

1-25
HK$'000
FAT

2,672

7,293

2to5years cash outflows

HK$'000

B A BAER

Total
undiscounted Carrying
amounts

AT REE
RESRH
HK$'000

TET

2-5F

fREE
HK$'000

TET

TET

9,965 9,630

2,622 24,151 23,164

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

NUREJ

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B M SR

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

30. €@ T HE®\)

C.

EMITANAARETE
TREERSREBENAARETIRE
AREEBREARURRS RO TE
5 o

ARBEERR/NGREMBRRIZE
HAASIENEREERSRARE
EEEENAERS °

REAMBRRERR G A LA B
AEEHH S RAERBEMARA
nEHE -

TERARBRENABZEZEREEN
RREBEI NI AR —MAMGE
RO RBARR) ARARERR
BRTARIBE A EFT 2/ RE AR
BEOABRIEE  SAREHESE
(ZF—HEFE=R) -

F—RAREFEREREE
EXRBEERTS LORE
(REFE)HETT

F_RMANEFEREF R
NEEXRBBERBEAREN
ShevE A BURETT - ARABUE
Al EERSH (BIER) XEES
H(EUREER) - &

F=RMANEFERBEER
TET - AT B IEA
ABEmEREREENEE
HEEHABB(TAESRE
ABUR) °

DRBHEERBRAR « 2021 FER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B MR T

HZE2021F3831HILEE

I\‘/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

30. €@ T H(®)

c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ SRIAMNAAREFEE
(Continued)
Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated REEHBERRREINAAETE
statement of financial position (Continued) (&)
Financial assets in the Valuation
consolidated statement Fair value techniques and
of financial position Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
REEHBRARNEREE RUTRHNARE AREEBR HERGRIEBARE
2021 2020
2021 F 20205
Deposit placed for a life insurance Assets — Assets — Level 3 Discounted cash flows —
policy classified as financial assets HK$2,835,000 HK$2,760,000 reference to expected cash
at FVTPL flows and applied appropriate
discount rate
SERBBEREANERE BE— BE— F=R BENREReRE — 2%
SREENSRRETR P mAN 2,760,000 75 7T HHReRERBER
HETRE
31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 31. WE—REWEAR

On 20 September 2019, the Group acquired an 100% interest in AP
Rentals (Shanghai) Limited (“AP Shanghai”) from its shareholders
for a consideration of HK$18.3 million. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. AP Shanghai is principally
engaged in the construction equipment rental services business in
the PRC since 2015. AP Shanghai was acquired so as to continue the
expansion of the Group’s leasing of machinery business in the PRC.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$212,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense , within the administrative expenses line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED +«  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

7R20195F9H20R - ARERBEHEE( L
B)ERAG ([ERBLE]) AR WE
100% 4z REAI13ASEB T BRANK
BEFRABEHEAR - 52015 @ 518
RESEFEEFENEEERBEHEERY
25 WESGRES ESE REEREAS
PP B A e AE & 275 o

2120008 TR KB RBERAD LEHEEN
EhHk  YERGABEREMEEK
BmRANTTRFE AR B AR R -



31.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 31. WE—BEMEBLR @)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition REEBHMREB 2 EERAERZ BE
are as follows: LU

HK$'000

FHTT
Property, plant and equipment MIE - B R 19,914
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 2 5 & Efth JEUGRIE ~ 124 RIE(3K1E 3,770
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRRE 1,300
Trade and other payables and accrued charges B REMEMNTIBERETER (992)
Tax liabilities MIEAE (201)
Loans from a related company RE—FHAE AR ZER (4343)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEAE (1,148)

18,300

The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date of acquisition RUEE BB 5 R H A FERGRIER AR
amounted to HK$2,450,000. The gross contractual amounts of those B 42450000780 - RUKEE R ER - 2% B
trade and other receivables acquired amounted to HK$2,771,000 at WiEZESREMEWRIBASNEE L
the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of the 2,771,000/ 7T o A USHE B AR - 78 B MR I
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected amounted to Bz a8 REe 2 &EMETA321,0008
HK$321,000. JC °
Net cash outflow on acquisition of AP Shanghai: WS T AR LB RIR £ F R

HK$'000

FAET
Cash consideration paid BEESNRE 18,300
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B BEWEEIRITEBRNIRS (1,300)

17,000

Included in the loss for the year ended 31 March 2020, was o FE S )% B8 SN E 1% B A B9 FXI8 509,000
HK$509,000 attributable to the additional business generated by AP BT AEZE2020F3 A31 B IEFEEEIE -
Shanghai. Revenue for the year includes HK$755,000 generated from e fE FB B AN [Z A Ak By U 25 /& 755,000
AP Shanghai. PBIT

DRBHEERBRAR « 2021 FER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mm

For the year ended 31 March 2021

31.

32.

AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ «

SN E R

HZE2021F3831HILEE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2019, revenue for the
year of the Group would have been HK$148,138,000, and loss for the
year of the Group would have been HK$18,294,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 April 2019, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had
AP Shanghai been acquired at the beginning of the current year, the
directors of the Company have:

calculated depreciation of property, plant and equipment
acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial
accounting for the business combination rather than the
carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial
statements; and

determined borrowing costs based on the funding levels,
credit ratings and debt/equity position of the Group after the
business combination.

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Income earned from leasing of machinery during the year is
HK$101,873,000 (2020: HK$101,691,000). Leases are negotiated on a
monthly basis.

Undiscounted lease payment receivable on leases are as follows:

31.

32.

Wis —E B AR (E)

U BE R 20194 4 A1 B 5Ehk - AREE MR
FEFUL S8 5148,138,00078 7T © AN £ E
BN F [ BB 8 5 18,294,000 7T ° tBEE &
FHE(EH R Z A - WA — 8RR
20194F 4 A 1 B FEk 7N & B 7 B R W as K 4K
BHER  NEZSTARKER -

MEEMRDBER LERANFFI LS
BARKEN [EE | Wasiad - ARFE
20

REBHEHEHNE S RIETE
EE’J”AJM M SE B BT 75 ¥R P A

REREEFEBESNYE - #BHK
?&1%9’9%)?% 3

BREBAHBRAEENESKY -5
B R AR, s B E K
o

KREHEZH

REEBAEHBEA

RAFE HBA®WKAMERDKAR
101,873,000 75 (20204 : 101,691,000/ 7T) °
FAEZ AER -

FEWARBEIRBENRAT

—%R

Within one year

2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
2,937 904
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE BBk W et

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 202143 A31 HILFE

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BEXRARE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of the TE T - W K& B
acquisition of property, plant and BRI BTSRRI ED
equipment contracted for but not BARE

provided in the consolidated

statement of financial statements 983
34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. BEEEH
The following assets were pledged to banks as securities to secure R ERARE R TRITIERA R BATER
the borrowings and facilities granted to the Group at the end of the EREREEFRNEEDT
reporting period:
2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Property, plant and equipment L E Y N 8,602 10,284
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SRR EFR 2,835 2,760
Pledged bank deposit BEIRRITIFK 360 360
11,797 13,404

SRAREERERAT - 2021 5% 177



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HZE2021F3831HILEE

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Other than as disclosed elsewhere, during the year, the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties in which

some directors have beneficial interests:

35. BEAIEE

BEMEBYAREEI
BEETEEHAEARAMHEN AL

RAFEE » K&

THRS

2021
2021 &

A shareholder
of the Company

ARF-BRR
HK$'000
TR

Leasing income of
machinery

Interest expenses

Other service income

Sales of parts

Storage income

Expenses recharge

Freight charge

Short term lease expenses
in respect of rented
machinery

Purchases of inventories

Acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

BHAEERA

FRMAX
HiREEA
THEE

BERA

Y= 32

HERX
ARAEEHM A
HERX

RBEE
WBE M - AR
By

Balances with related parties are disclosed in the consolidated

statement of financial position and related notes.

The Company's key management personnel are the directors and
their remunerations are included in the emoluments disclosed in

note 11.

178
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A subsidiary of
a shareholder of
the Company
NN
—EBRFRH
MDA
HK$'000

THEx

2020

2020
Related companies
in which
A subsidiary of  Mr.Lau Pong Sing
a shareholder of has beneficial
the Company interest
VNG IR EE
—BRRH BREGER
Lol NG M RERE N B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
320 -
52 -
413 15
1712 -
257 -
12,306 -
8,382 -
25,730 =

FREE o

B 77 MR AR A B I 3R R AR R P

ARAMNIBEREABRESR  MEKE
BB & 5t AR 11 FTIR R B0 Hr A



36.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

METHELENEEHR

HZE2021F3A31HILFEE

TRIBASBEEAREEZDELNEESR

15

BRRRE RIER

&=

B MER

HELNABEREERSREIRKRE
MEBLHABNARBEGARERERT D

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARETIMERERENEE -
activities.
Trade
payable- Loans from
interest arelated Lease
bearing Borrowings company liabilities Total
®xE—MH
STEES ) YN
PEA+ FRIE CE ZER HEAE £y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET THT THET THET
1 April 2019 R2019F4 818 - 17,461 - - 17,461
Financing cash flows BmEHS TS (500) 4728 = (1,543) 2,685
Finance costs A& A A = 975 = 140 1,115
New lease entered HElHE - - - 8,687 8,687
Acquisition of property, — UgEE¥IEE - HA &
plant and equipment B 18,975 - - - 18,975
Acquisition of a subsidiary 48— &I B 2 7 - - 4393 - 4393
At 31 March 2020 R 2020%3 A318 18475 23,164 4393 7,284 53316
Financing cash flows MERERE (8,444) (14,268) (1,554) (3,565) (27,831)
Finance costs BhE& Ak 2N 657 734 177 255 1,823
Changes in working LIBEESE
capital 3,750 - - - 3,750
New lease entered eI HE - - - 1,425 1,425
Exchange realignment b 5 S - - 16 - 16
At 31 March 2021 20213 A318 14,438 9,630 3,032 5,399 32,499

DEAEEERERAR
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE SRR M At

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. MEBRAAFE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 and 31 202153 A31H KX 20203 A31 H » AR
March 2020 were as follows: GGG - ONE
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid ordinary
registration/ share capital/
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital Equity interests attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEARAR
ML/ EERE/
HWRARER B/ EEny AfRA BRASERE TEXH
Directly Indirectly
Ei 5E3
2020 2020
2000 20005
AP Rentals (BVI) Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands USs2 100% - Investment holding
AP Rentals (BVl) Holdings EBRIES IET REER
Limited
AP Rentals Limited Hong Kong HK$27,378,000 - 100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing
of machinery and parts, and provision
of operating and other related services
SRAREERAR A 273780008 T REAR  BERGAKHEES
DA RFRHL B AR R E b AR R R TS
AP Equipment Leasing and Macau MOP25,000 - 100%  Leasing of construction machinery
Engineering Limited
SEARBAERTE 2 2500087 R
BRAT
AP Equipment Rentals Singapore SGD100,000 100% - Trading and leasing of machinery and
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. parts, provision of operating and
other related services
AP Equipment Rentals g 100000 ¥T AT BEEREEHMLEN RELER
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. H iR RS
AP Rentals China (BVI) British Virgin Islands USs2 100% - Inactive
Holdings Limited
AP Rentals China (BV) EBRIES DET EREE
Holdings Limited
AP Power Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
TEAENERAR Eh 1000077 EEZE
AP Rentals (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Inactive
SEARE(RE)BRRE  FE 1000077C EEXE
AP Shanghai The PRC 1S$2,100,000 - 100%  Leasing of construction machinery
SEALE i 21000003 7T tiif=22: 171

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of RERE AR - BEN B AR B BITERER
the reporting period. BH o
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